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FAST
FACTS

square kilometres is the 
total land and ocean area 

of the University’s member 
countries

13,729,840

times larger than the 
land and ocean area of 

the USA

1.40

times larger than the 
land and ocean area of 

Australia

1.76

is the number of 
countries which own 

the University

12

is the number of full-
function campuses 

of the University

14

square metres is the total 
area occupied by the 

University’s campuses

841,952

is the age of the 
University in 2009

41

is the number of fulltime 
staff employed by the 
University at the end 

of 2009

1242

4
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is the percentage increase 
in student enrolments 
at the Marshall Islands 

Centre in 2009 
(over 2008)

153

is the number of students 
(headcount) enrolled in 
2009 at the University

18,621

is the total number of 
postgraduate students at 
the University in 2009

1899

is the estimated number 
of books held in the 19 

libraries of the University

876,524

is the number of countries 
from which students 

studying at the University 
in 2009 came

47

is the percentage of 
female students studying 
at the University in 2009

53

is the percentage of 
students studying at 

the University in 2009 
through the distance 

mode

40

is the ratio of women to 
men in the University’s 

Senior Management 
Team in December 

2009

50:50

is the percentage of 
academic staff with 

PhDs at Lecturer level 
and above

56

hits were recorded on the 
International Students’ 

website in October-
December 2009

6325
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Mission & Purpose
In February 1970, the University Charter declared that the purpose of the University of the South Pacifi c would be for 

“the maintenance, advancement and dissemination of knowledge by teaching, consultancy and research and otherwise and for the 
provision at appropriate levels of education and training responsive to the well-being and needs of the communities of the South 
Pacifi c”.

Since that time, the University has periodically re-interpreted this vision.  In 2009, its 41st year of existence, the Vision of the 
University of the South Pacifi c was expressed anew in four ways, as follows.

Th e University will be proactive in recognizing and meeting the higher-education needs of its twelve member countries.

Th e University will deliver quality learning and teaching, undertake quality research, and ensure high standards of quality in all 
its services.

Th e University will be highly regarded by stakeholders through the region it serves – and internationally – especially as a centre of 
excellence for the Pacifi c.

Th e University will provide appropriate and sustainable solutions for contemporary challenges facing Pacifi c Island countries.

To realize this Vision, a Mission Statement has been developed by the University that explains how it is achieving its Vision.  
Th e current Mission Statement is as follows.

Th e University will advance knowledge and understanding through learning and teaching that is both relevant to the people of 
the Pacifi c and of international quality.

Th e University will increase knowledge and understanding through quality research that is internationally recognized, which has 
applications to the Pacifi c region, and which benefi ts the people who occupy it.

Th e University will engage with stakeholders throughout the Pacifi c region, particularly in its Member Countries, to understand 
the ways in which it can contribute to political, economic, environmental, societal, and cultural development.

Th e University will work with stakeholders in its region to ensure that the opportunities off ered by the international knowledge 
economy and globalizing world can be harnessed eff ectively for the benefi t of all Pacifi c peoples.

Th e University of the South Pacifi c is committ ed to excellence and service to all its students, staff  and stakeholders 
throughout its region.  To demonstrate this commitment, the University has adopted a series of Values that lie at the core of 
all its activities.  Th ese Values are as follows.

Th e University values its students and endeavours to create positive learning environments for them, ranging fr om fulfi lling 
campus-life activities to providing the necessary support for students studying fr om a distance.  Th e University will encourage all 
its students to be successful and will work towards increasing their lifelong potential for both academic and personal growth.

Th e University values the people who work for it.  By investing in them, supporting their professional development and 
empowering them, the University will receive fr om them high standards of performance.

Th e University holds quality and relevance to be central to all its activities.  It will provide its students with learning experiences 
that are of international quality and award them qualifi cations that are recognized in every part of the modern world.  Th e 
University will ensure that its academic programmes and research are relevant to the needs and the goals of people in the Pacifi c.  
It will continue to be a centre of excellence for all things Pacifi c.

Th e University prides itself on the diversity of its students and staff , which it regards as a key defi ning characteristic.  It is also 
dedicated to ensuring that this diversity is celebrated, that all students have positive experiences at the University, and that all its 
campuses welcome students fr om every background.

Th e University maintains the highest standards of good governance, leadership and transparency through the consistent 
application of ethical processes at all levels.

Th e University demonstrates concern for the environment in all its activities and strives to create campus environments that are 
sustainable. Th e University includes environmental awareness in many academic programmes and makes a strong contribution 
to the environmental awareness agenda throughout the Pacifi c and beyond.

7
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“You will find 
in the following 
sections of this 
report that 
there has been 
a concerted 
effort made over 
the course of 
2009 to effect 
fundamental 
changes to 
the way the 
University 
operates and a 
major revision of 
the services that 
it has to offer.” 

Pro
Chancellor’s

Foreword
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W hen the University of the South Pacific was 
founded a little over forty years ago, it was 
in a regional context that is very different 

to the one in which we now find ourselves.  Many of 
our member governments had yet to attain political 
independence and many of their development needs and 
challenges appeared less diverse.  There was a common 
need, for example,  throughout the region for trained 
teachers and bureaucrats to staff national civil services.  
This environment shaped the way the University was 
set up and helped determine the academic programmes 
which it offered initially.

The regional context today is quite different.  The 
University now finds itself in an environment where it 
is trying to satisfy member governments’ needs that 
are not only more numerous but also more diverse and 
with resources that are relatively fewer.  Some of our 
member governments have established national post-
secondary institutions, including universities, while 
others have expressed an intention to do so in the near 
future.  Coupled with this, advances in technology and 
open trading have resulted in a revolution in the delivery 
of education across borders.  Students in the region can 
now enrol for courses at universities in Australia, New 
Zealand and countries further afield without leaving the 
comforts of their homes. 

Yet not only is the University facing a lot more competition 
from other tertiary providers from both within and 
outside the region, but there is also more priority 
demands for our member governments’ resources.  The 
University is now at a point in its history where it needs 
to take stock of this changed and more complex region 
and re-position itself accordingly in order to remain 
the tertiary institution of choice for stakeholders, who 
are also demanding more accountability and a clearer 
demonstration of cost-effectiveness and value.

This is the challenge not only for the University 
management and staff but also for members of Council.  
For the latter, a greater appreciation of their role as 
Trustees of the University is timely.  In this regard, 
the Council’s Governance Taskforce, supported by 
the Governance and Management Enhancement and 
Strengthening Project (GMES), funded by NZAid, 
has been working assiduously with the University 
management to address these many challenges. 

There are thirteen work streams identified in the GMES 
project which range from making our founding Charter 
and its Statutes and Ordinances more relevant to a 
modern university through to improving the reporting 
and governance capabilities of committees of Council 
and the Council itself. 

Indeed, the format of this very Annual Report has been 
revamped as part of this project, to reflect international 
best practice.  This new format reflects the University’s 
efforts to be more accountable, responsible and to 
effectively engage all its stakeholders.  You will find in 
the following sections of this report that there has been 
a concerted effort made over the course of 2009 to 
effect fundamental changes to the way the University 
operates and a major revision of the services that it has 
to offer. 

Looking ahead, the GMES Project has also provided 
valuable assistance in shaping the University’s new 
Strategic Plan 2010 - 2012.  The Plan’s objectives and 
in particular, the key performance indicators, reflect the 
efforts of the University to demonstrate value to all of its 
stakeholders with measurable outcomes. 

We still have some way to go but, as Pro-Chancellor 
and Chair of Council, I have been deeply heartened by 
the diligence with which members of Council and the 
management and staff of the University have risen to the 
tasks and challenges at hand.  I thank them for this, in 
particular the Deputy Chair, Mr Ikbal Jannif, the chairs 
and members of Council’s committees and various 
task forces, and the Vice-Chancellor, Professor Rajesh 
Chandra.  

I would like to also express my sincere gratitude to all our 
development partners, in particular to AusAID, NZAid,  
JICA and the EU and our member governments, for 
their ongoing support for the University. 

I have absolutely no doubt that the fundamental changes 
and difficult decisions that we made over the course 
of 2009 will serve us well over the coming years as we 
navigate our way through the complex set of challenges 
that lie ahead.  While the regional context may have 
changed since the University’s inception, the original 
vision of our founders for a vibrant tertiary institution 
that serves the governments and people of the Pacific 
remains pertinent today.  In keeping with that vision, 
we must ensure that we stay abreast of changes in order 
for the services that we offer to remain relevant to and 
valued by all our stakeholders.

Soifua.

Hon. Fiame N Mata’afa
Pro-Chancellor and Chair of Council
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“The University’s 
stakeholders 
have high 
expectations 
of seeing 
further major 
changes at the 
institution.  As 
Vice-Chancellor 
and President, I 
am committed 
to implementing 
these changes 
to ensure the 
sustainability of 
the University 
and further 
embed its 
reputation as 
the premier 
institution of 
its kind in the 
Pacific region.”

Vice
Chancellor’s

Report
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I n my message in last year’s Annual Report, 
I stated that my ultimate goal was

To create a world-class institution … an institution to 
which all people in the Pacific will look when quality higher 
education is required or when quality research is desired; 
an institution of which Member Countries feel strong 
ownership, which they regard as their think-tank; and an 
institution that development partners regard as innovative, 
cost-effective, reliable and suitable.

I am delighted to report that significant achievements 
towards the fulfillment of this goal were made in 2009.  
The foundations of the University were strengthened 
by the development and approval of the new Strategic 
Plan (2010-2012); approval of the new triennial 
funding (2010-2012); an unambiguous improvement of 
confidence in the University by its Member Governments, 
donor partners and other stakeholders; an improved 
reputation for the governance and management of the 
University; and a sustained improvement in financial 
management and performance.

Staff and students remain key to the University’s 
success.  Significant, far-reaching and unavoidable 
reforms in 2009 created anxieties among staff and there 
was understandable resistance to change.  Yet through 
extensive consultations, an open-door policy, and an 
effective communications strategy, these difficulties were 
minimized.  It remains important to plan for tension 
and possible conflicts as those changes which are still 
needed are introduced for reasons articulated by the Pro 
Chancellor in her message in this Annual Report.

The University also signaled its intention to focus 
more strongly on student services and success in 2009.  
Success@USP was implemented at regional campuses 
and much work was undertaken to fully institutionalize 
this programme for 2010.  Significant improvements 
were also made to student facilities in 2009, something 
that will continue through the next triennium.

While major strides to improve the University were 
made in 2009, much more work remains to be done to 
reshape the University for a sustainable future, one in 
which Member Governments are facing difficult financial 
and economic challenges, where there is increasing 
competition in the higher education sector within our 
region, and one in which quality is likely to determine 
the future reputation and viability of the University.

The University’s stakeholders have high expectations 
of seeing further major changes at the institution.  As 
Vice-Chancellor and President, I am committed to 
implementing these changes to ensure the sustainability 
of the University and further embed its reputation as the 

premier institution of its kind in the Pacific region.  Yet 
these changes will require tenacity and determination 
on everyone’s part, including all members of the Senate 
and the University Council.

For the main part of this Review of the Year, I discuss 
the main accomplishments of the University, its staff 
and students during 2009 under seven main headings – 
Planning, Management, Quality, Learning and Teaching, 
Research, Outreach, and Partnerships.

PLANNING
In 2009, the University finalized and adopted its new 
Strategic Plan 2010-2012, which will be the main 
operational mantra of the University for the next three 
years.  This new plan went through a rigorous process 
of development and review that captured the views 
of the University’s many stakeholders and which 
appropriately reflects its guiding theme of “Quality, 
Relevance and Sustainability”.  The University Council’s 
active involvement in the preparation and approval of 
the Strategic Plan increased its ownership by Member 
Governments and stakeholders. The Strategic Plan is 
fully costed and has a robust monitoring, evaluation and 
reporting framework.

The Triennial Submission 2010-2012 to the University 
Grants Committee (UGC) was prepared and accepted 
by the University’s Regional Ministers of Finance.  A key 
component of the UGC Submission was a 2% reduction 
(over 2009) in the 2010 levels of funding, something 
that acknowledged the challenging economic situation 
in our region.  The UGC, the University’s Regional 
Ministers of Finance and the University Council were 
impressed by the speed with which the University came 
to grips with the main issues, effected changes to align 
its programme offerings to the funds available and, most 
importantly, lessened its financial demands on Member 
Countries.  This new approach avoids the accustomed 
situation of annually requesting more from Member 
Countries.  Yet it means that the University has given 
itself the challenge of meeting its operational costs 
without diluting its quality — and moreover, to meet 
the challenge of increasing the quality of its learning and 
teaching, its research, and its services.

The improvement in the University’s financial position 
reported for 2008 was repeated in 2009, with further 
gains being registered.  The 2009 financial results show 
that the University recorded an operating surplus of 
$16.7m against a budgeted surplus of $4.5m (or $12.2m 
better than the budget), although it is important to point 
out that some of this represents exchange gains resulting 
from the 20% devaluation of the Fiji dollar.  The cash 
flow position of the University shows a net increase 
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“The University 
remains 
committed 
to quality, 
relevance and 
sustainability.  
Our University 
provides 
world-class 
education to 
Pacific peoples, 
it carries out 
good research 
for Pacific 
peoples, and it 
works to embed 
knowledge 
within Pacific 
peoples that 
will sustain 
our region for 
the foreseeable 
future.”

in cash and cash equivalents of $16.4m, taking the balances from $28.29m at the 
beginning of 2009 to $44.67m at 31 December 2009.  These results should further 
restore stakeholders’ confidence in the financial systems of the University and are a 
major boost for the reputation of the institution.

MANAGEMENT
A new management structure became operational in March 2009.  This clarity of 
University management and administration and ensures a more cost-effective structure 
in line with developments in progressive universities.  This structure is closely aligned 
with the key objectives of the new Strategic Plan and standardizes arrangements 
across all constituent units of the University to ensure that as many staff as possible 
have an opportunity to participate in decision-making. The overall philosophy of the 
new management structure and the associated processes and policies is to provide a 
facilitative environment for the key functions of the University and work of members 
of staff within a transparent performance and accountability framework. The new 
structure will reduce bureaucracy and enhance collegiality.

Strengthening the human resources of the University was a major achievement of 
2009.  Through the Governance and Management Enhancement and Strengthening 
(GMES) Project, a major review of the Human Resources (HR) section was 
undertaken.  It was manifest from the report that a major overhaul of the HR section 
was needed and a plan was put in place to action this.   A focused strategy was also put 
in place to strengthen key sections. Professor Patrick Nunn took up his position as Pro-
Vice-Chancellor (Research and Innovation);  Associate Professor Peter McFarlane was 
appointed as Professor of Law and Head of School; Dr Anjeela Jokhan was appointed 
as Dean of the Faculty of Science, Technology and Environment; Dr. Michael Gregory 
was appointed as Pro-Vice Chancellor (Planning and Quality); and the Director of 
Property and Facilities, Mr. Adish Naidu, took up his position in November.

The University engaged US-based Sasaki Associates Inc. to carry out the review and 
update of the Laucala Campus Master Plan as part of the work of the GMES Project.  
The review process, carried out from July to December 2009, involved consultation 
with all major University stakeholders to obtain their views and comments on what 
the campus should look and feel like to the year 2030. The University will consult once 
more with key stakeholders in the first quarter of 2010.  The final Report on the Master 
Plan is to be considered at the University Council meeting in May 2010.

Two major donor-funded projects that will significantly enhance the University’s 
reputation in the region and internationally were developed in 2009.  The ground 
breaking ceremony for the Japan-Pacific ICT Centre on Laucala Campus, funded 
by the Government of Japan, was initiated in early 2009.  The Centre is on track for 
completion by 31 March 2010 with occupation from mid 2010.  The Centre comprises 
lecture rooms, laboratories, incubator spaces, a server room, a radio station, staff 
offices, and a large meeting room.  The Government of Japan also agreed to fund the 
construction of the third building, which was earlier excluded from the first project. As 
part of phase II development, construction of a multi-purpose state-of-the-art 150 seat 
lecture theatre will begin by mid 2010. This theatre will also promote the link between 
traditional art, culture, music and dance of the Pacific with modern technology and 
will be unique in the region.     

A MOU was finalized between the University and the Government of Australia for 
the establishment of the Pacific Islands Centre for Public Administration (PICPA).  
This Centre of Excellence in public administration is expected to be operational 
by mid-2010.  Whilst PICPA will be an integral part of the University, it will have 
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a governance and management structure reflecting 
the underlying partnership with the Government of 
Australia.  The Centre will be located on the University’s 
Statham Campus in Suva.  The establishment of PICPA 
is a major achievement for the University and indicates 
the confidence that a major donor has in the value of the 
University to the Pacific region.  It also signals a major 
upgrade of the partnership between Australia and the 
University as well as an expanded role for the University 
in applied development within the Pacific region.

QUALITY
In order to assess the quality of the University’s learning 
and teaching, the Australian Universities Quality Agency 
(AUQA) and the New Zealand Universities Academic 
Audit Agency (NZUAAU) undertook an academic 
audit of the University of the South Pacific in 2008.  
The audit produced a number of positive outcomes 
for the University and has undoubtedly sharpened the 
University’s approach to planning, particularly a shift to 
setting key directions and enabling relevant and feasible 
ways of implementation. The First Year Implementation 
Report was submitted in April 2009.  Discussions were 
held subsequently to develop a mechanism for continued 
AUQA/NZUAAU monitoring of the University’s 
quality. 

The system of engaging External Advisers for periodic 
reviews of academic sections, done away with in 2006, was 
reinstated as part of the Quality Audit Implementation.  
Of the ten External Adviser visits in 2009, eight visits 
were completed (for Sociology, Journalism, Biology, 
Geography, Marine Studies, Economics, Accounting, 
and Management & Public Administration).  A further 
twelve are scheduled for 2010.

It should also be mentioned that in March 2009, 
the European Union undertook a comprehensive 
institutional assessment of the University’s systems, 
policies and procedures to determine future aid flows 
to the institution.  The report highlighted strengths, 
gaps, and areas for strengthening, but overall gave the 
University a very good rating.

LEARNING AND TEACHING
I also wish to note some significant achievements and 
developments in the areas of Learning and Teaching 
(L&T) at the University in 2009.   The newly-instituted 
Vice-Chancellor’s Learning and Teaching Forum 
took place on 17-18 September and attracted more than 
100 academics and support staff.   Professor Richard 
Larkins, formerly Vice-Chancellor and President of 
Monash University (Australia) and the immediate past 

Chair of Universities Australia, was the guest of honour 
at this Forum which was widely regarded as extremely 
worthwhile in that it focused on a number of key issues 
and solicited a wide range of opinions.

The Senior Management Team (SMT) and Heads 
of Schools, together with Staff Union and Student 
Association representatives, held an intensive two-day 
Workshop on the Second Stage Academic Review on 
31 July and 1 August.  The workshop was to develop 
a shared understanding of what needs to be achieved 
during the next triennium; to begin discussions on 
important elements of this academic review; to get an 
update on the work on graduate attributes and the new 
generic courses; to agree on course and programme 
cuts for 2010; and also to engender greater camaraderie 
among the leaders of the University.  The workshop 
provided an opportunity for all involved to debate and 
dialogue on a number of important topics and come to 
agreement on the way forward in these critical areas. 

RESEARCH
The University continued to place a lot of emphasis 
on Research in 2009.  As part of its commitment to 
producing useful, timely and high-quality research 
for the benefit of its member countries and all Pacific 
communities, the Vice-Chancellor awarded various 
research prizes in March 2009 (for 2008) to staff and 
students. These were

The Vice-Chancellor’s Prize for Research Excellence 
was awarded jointly to two researchers: Professor 
Wadan Narsey (Faculty of Business and Economics) 
for his groundbreaking research into poverty in Fiji 
which resulted in the publication of three books; and 
Dr. Sushil Kumar (Faculty of Science, Technology 
and Environment) for his innovative research into 
probing near-Earth space in the Pacific using Very Low 
Frequency (VLF) radio waves.  

The Vice-Chancellor’s Prize for the Best Research 
Publication was awarded to Dr. Dhana Rao (Faculty of 
Science, Technology and Environment) for an article 
identifying environmentally-friendly alternatives to 
toxic anti-fouling paints for shipping in the Pacific.   The 
paper was published in the leading international journal 
Applied and Environmental Microbiology.

The Vice-Chancellor’s Prize for Best Student 
Research was awarded to Ms. Hewage Perera for her 
research project on cultural influences on consumer 
purchases in Fiji.  This research was undertaken as part 
of a postgraduate diploma course.
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OUTREACH
Perhaps the most conspicuous forms of outreach that 
the University undertakes regularly are its graduation 
ceremonies.  Six graduation ceremonies were successfully 
held during the year:  at Laucala Campus (April and 
September); Cook Islands (August), Solomon Islands 
(December); Emalus Campus (December); and Alafua 
Campus (December).   The Cook Islands graduation 
celebrated the completion of the Masters of Business 
Administration (MBA) by a cohort of 34 students.  The 
graduation ceremony in Solomon Islands will now be 
an annual event, a reflection of the high enrolment of 
Solomon Island students at the University.

The organization of policy dialogues in all the member 
countries of the University is an important goal of the 
new Strategic Plan. In 2009 the Faculty of Business and 
Economics organized development policy dialogues in 
Samoa, Solomon Islands and Vanuatu.  Expressions of 
appreciation included acknowledgement of both the 
intrinsic value of these dialogues to policy development 
as well as the growing role of the University in capacity-
building for policy development in the Pacific region.  
These dialogues are additional to the regular annual Fiji 
Update.

As befits its status as the region’s leading tertiary teaching 
and research institution, the University hosted a number 
of conferences and symposia in 2009.  Of these, I shall 
mention only one - the International Symposium on 
Renewable Energy organized on 24-25 August by the 
Faculty of Science, Technology and Environment at 
Laucala Campus, which was attended by representatives 
from a number of international, regional and local 
organizations.  The University is taking a lead role in 
the area of renewable energy research and applications 
to the Pacific Islands, which was also highlighted at the 
Pacific Leaders’ meeting in Cairns.  The University will 
significantly increase its activities in this field.

The University’s Institute of Applied Sciences (IAS) had 
a stellar year in 2009.  It was awarded the Achievement 
in Business Excellence Award at the Fiji Business 
Excellence Awards.  It was also responsible for the 
discovery of a new chemical, a cyclic polypeptide (six 
amino acids attached in a ring), which was produced 
by a marine bacterium grown from a sediment sample 
collected from the Suva foreshore.  The chemical is new 
to science and very powerful in killing resilient bacteria 
that most current antibiotics cannot kill.  Such bacteria 
are especially dangerous in hospitals where wounded 
people can be affected.  This is an example of some of the 
world-class research that is carried out at the University.
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Finally in this section, I would like to mention that at 
the 2009 Annual Conference of the American Library 
Association, a book written by Professor Patrick Nunn 
(Pro Vice-Chancellor) was named one of the Best of the 
Best from the University Presses.  The book in question 
is his 2009 book entitled Vanished Islands and Hidden 
Continents of the Pacific, published by the University 
of Hawai’i Press. The American Library Association 
rated Nunn’s book as “Outstanding”, defined as “having 
exceptional editorial content and subject matter”.

PARTNERSHIPS
The University continued to receive generous support 
from its donors in 2009 and is most grateful to them 
for this.  The 2009 aid income as at 31 December 2009 
totalled F$22.8m and is expected to increase in 2010.  
The Government of Australia increased its support 
to the University by 23% in 2009 while New Zealand 
maintained its previous level of funding support.  A 
significant increase in Japanese aid took place with the 
construction of the Japan-Pacific ICT Centre discussed 
above.

An MOU was signed between the Government of 
India (GOI),  the Asian Development Bank (ADB) 
and the University for an ICT-based education project. 
This project saw the provision of US$1m to assist 
the University’s Member Countries in the fields of 
information and communication technology and 
education.  This is the first support of its kind to the 
University and its region by GOI and is offered in the 
spirit of South-South cooperation.  This agreement also 
opens up future loan opportunities with ADB.

In 2009, the University also signed an MOU with the 
International Union for the Conservation of Nature 
(IUCN) marking a new chapter in the development of 
conservation and sustainable development initiatives 
in the Pacific region.  The agreement formalizes a long-
standing partnership between USP and IUCN and 
promises to strengthen collaborative initiatives for 
conservation and sustainable development through 
research, training and teaching.  A jointly-sponsored 
Public Lecture series commenced in 2009 as part of this 
agreement.

Talks with the European Union (EU) led to it selecting 
the University as the Pacific recipient of a grant of 8m 
Euros (about $F21.5m) for a major initiative on Meeting 
the Challenge of Climate Change in the Pacific Islands 
through Training, Applied Research and Community 
Engagement.  After the signing of the grant agreement, 
funds are expected to be available from the beginning of 
2011 for period of five years.

LOOKING FORWARD
The University of the South Pacific turned forty-one in 
2009.  It was a highly successful year for the University 
in which initiatives were set in train for a dynamic and 
productive future.  Yet it would be foolish to pretend 
that there are no fundamental challenges which the 
University still needs to overcome; the global financial 
crisis is not yet over and many of our Member Countries 
have yet to feel its full economic effects; there are other 
universities operating in our region; and at least two 
Member Countries are pondering the establishment of 
their own national universities.

The University remains committed to quality, relevance 
and sustainability.  Our University provides world-class 
education to Pacific peoples, it carries out good research 
for Pacific peoples, and it works to embed knowledge 
within Pacific peoples that will sustain our region for the 
foreseeable future.  The blueprint for this over the next 
triennium is the new Strategic Plan (2010-2012) which 
will guide and inform the University’s direction in the 
immediate future. 

The University of the South Pacific is an unmatched 
brand and there is significant interest among regional 
and international partners to work with it.  The attendant 
opportunities for the University are many and I expect 
these to increase in the future as it demonstrates its 
agility with decision-making; maintains the high quality 
of its learning and teaching and the international reach 
of its research; demonstrates its capacity to deliver on 
time and within cost; exhibits its ability to sustain long-
term relationships; and fulfills its commitment to work 
for the collective interest of the region.

I take this opportunity to thank all those who worked so 
hard to make 2009 such a memorable year.  In particular, 
I thank the Pro Chancellor and Chair of Council, the 
Deputy Chair, the Chair of Finance and Investments 
Committee, my senior colleagues, staff members and 
students for their efforts.

Professor Rajesh Chandra 
Vice-Chancellor and President
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Principal Offi  cers of the University 
(as at 31 December 2009)

Chancellor
President of the Republic of Nauru

H.E. Hon. Marcus Stephen M.P.

Pro-Chancellor
Hon Fiame Naomi Mata’afa

Vice-Chancellor and President
Professor Rajesh Chandra

BA GCEd MA S.Pac,. PhD Br.Col.

Deputy Vice-Chancellor
Dr Esther Williams

BA Well., PGDipLib Canberra, MA Well., PhD Qld, ALIA

Pro Vice-Chancellor (Learning and Teaching)
Dr Eci Nabalarua

BA S.Pac., MA Reading, PhD ANU

Pro Vice-Chancellor (Planning and Quality)
Dr Michael Gregory

LLB (Hons) UCLan; MSc Salf; EdD Bris FCMI; FCIPD; BSMP
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Registrar (Acting)
Lily Vesikula
BA MBA S.Pac.

Director of Finance
Munish Malik
BTech Ban., MIB IIFT, MIA Col.

Dean of the Faculty of Arts and Law (Acting)
Dr Akanisi Kedrayate
MEd Glas., PhD NE

Dean of the Faculty of  Business and Economics
Professor Biman C Prasad
BA PGDipEd S.Pac., MCom NSW, PhD Qld.

Dean of the Faculty of Science, Technology 
and Environment
Dr Anjeela Jokhan
BSc PGDip MSc S.Pac.,PhD Brist.

Pro Vice-Chancellor (Research and Innovation)
Professor Patrick D Nunn
BSc (Hons), AKC, PhD Lond
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Our Students, Our Staff and Our Region
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Head Count by Campus 2009

Cook Islands  235

Fiji - Labasa 606

Fiji - Laucala 10747

Fiji - Lautoka 1098

Kiribati 569

Marshall Islands 166

Nauru 100

Niue 27

Samoa - Alafua 309

Solomon Islands 2031

Tokelau 46

Tonga 518

Tuvalu 205

Vanuatu - Emalus 1964

Grand Total 18621

EFTS by Campus 2009

Cook Islands  79.27

Fiji - Labasa 244.68

Fiji - Laucala 7076.41

Fiji - Lautoka 397.94

Kiribati 322.14

Marshall Islands 67.36

Nauru 20.98

Niue 5.39

Samoa - Alafua 201.07

Solomon Islands 792.64

Tokelau 32.89

Tonga 195.97

Tuvalu 83.87

Vanuatu - Emalus 692.55

Grand Total 10213.15

Students by Faculty 2009

Faculty of Arts & Law  4233

Faculty of Business & Economics 5648

Faculty of Science, Tech & Env 3823

University * 4917

Grand Total 18621

* University refers to Student Learning Support, 
CCCE, Pre-Degree units

USP Students by Head Count, EFTS and Faculties
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Fiji - Laucala

Solomon Islands

Vanuatu - Emalus
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Fiji - Labasa
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Kiribati
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Cook Islands

Marshall Islands
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Nauru

Tokelau

Niue
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56%

Student numbers by campus
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International Students 2009

Australia  18

Bangladesh 1

Canada 6

China 11

Federated States of Micronesia 22

Finland 1

France 2

Germany 5

Hawaii 1

India 13

Indonesia 1

Japan 6

Kenya 1

Korea 10

Lebanon 1

Maldives 3

New Zealand 23

Regional Students 2009

Cook Islands 222

Fiji  10736

Kiribati 868

Marshall Islands 144

Nauru 112

Niue 31

Samoa  441

Solomon Islands 2773

Tokelau 64

Tonga 764

Tuvalu 352

Vanuatu 1876

18383

Nigeria 1

Norway 1 

Papua New Guinea 30

Philippines 2

Russian Federation 1

South Korea 3

Sudan 1

Tahiti 1

Taiwan 1

U.S.A. 59

United Kingdom 6

Wallis and Futuna 1

Zambia 1

others 5

238

Regional 18383

Grand Total 18621

USP Students by Country of Origin
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New Zealand

Hawaii

23

Marshall Islands

Kiribati

Nauru

Solomon Islands

Emalus, Vanuatu

Tuvalu

Labasa, Fiji

Lautoka, Fiji

Laucala, Suva

Tonga

Alafua, Samoa

Tokelau

Niue

Cook Islands

Campuses of the University of the South Pacific

1
2  

3  
4  

5  
6 

7

8
9

10
11
12
13
14

Campus Staff Numbers

Laucala  942

Alafua  96

Emalus  91

Solomon Islands  23

Marshall Islands  17

Tonga  16

Lautoka  12

Labasa  11

Kiribati  10

Nauru  7

Tuvalu  7

Cook Islands  5

Niue  4

Tokelau  1

Total  1242

Staff By Campus

Laucala

Alafua
Emalus

Niue

Cook
Is

Tuvalu

Nauru

Kiribati Labasa

Lautoka

Tonga

Marshall
Is

Solomon
Is
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Member Countries of the University of the South Pacifi c

Marshall
Islands

Kiribati

TuvaluSolomon
Islands

Vanuatu

Fiji

Tonga

Cook 
Islands

Tokelau
Samoa

Nauru

Niue
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Staff  Category Count

Hourly Paid  296 

Intermediate & Junior  486 

Senior Staff   460

Total  1242

All Staff  Breakdown

Senior Staff 

Academic

Comparable

Senior Staff  Breakdown

31%
Academic

69%
Comparable

37%
Senior
Staff 

Hourly 
Paid

Intermediate
& Junior

24%

39%
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Th e start of 2009 saw the introduction of a major new 
programme for the University’s DFL (Distance and 
Flexible Learning) students. Named Success@USP, it 
commenced on all campuses in February and is intended 
to help DFL students learn bett er. Students learned how to 
study more eff ectively, how to study bett er together. Here 
is a group of DFL students at the Marshall Islands campus 
in February 2009.

A major highlight of any year is the installation of the 
new University Chancellor. In 2009, the President of 
the Republic of Nauru, the Hon. Marcus Stephen, was 
installed as Chancellor in an elaborate ceremony at the 
Laucala graduation. Th is picture shows the Chancellor 
(left ) being robed by Mr Ikbal Jannif, Deputy Chair of the 
University Council.

Energy costs a lot in the Pacifi c. Th e University is at the 
forefront of major research to bring cheaper forms of 
energy to our island countries. Here is the commissioning 
of a new Solar-Wind Hybrid System at Laucala Campus 
by the Vice-Chancellor and a representative from the 
French Embassy, a major supporter of this research at the 
University.

Many of the marine ecosystems on which the people of 
the Pacifi c routinely depend are currently under stress. 
Th e University’s Institute of Applied Sciences is at the 
forefront of research in the region to develop and engage 
communities to manage their marine resources for a 
sustainable future. Here University researchers pose with 
people from pilot communities from Fiji.

2525

Highlights 
of 2009 
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Th e student-led Tsunami 
Feather Appeal raised 
FJ$21,752.00 for the victims 
of the devastating tsunami in 
Samoa. 

Th e Institute of Applied Sciences was commended in 2009 
with the “Achievement in Business Excellence” trophy, 
which is one of the Fiji Business Excellence Awards given 
by the Training and Productivity Authority of Fiji and the 
Fiji Government.

Th e Institute of Applied Sciences 
Analytical Laboratory received 
accreditation from International 
Accreditation New Zealand for 
its chemical testing processes and 
procedures.  

 Th e fl ags of the twelve member 
countries of the University of the South 
Pacifi c illustrate that USP is one of only 
two regional universities in the world.

Herbal medicines and kava are widely used 
in the Pacifi c, so USP scientists are well 
placed to conduct important herbal drug 
research.  Emeritus Professor Subramanium 
Sotheeswaran presented his work “Th e present 
and future prospects of the Asian/South Pacifi c 
herbal drugs Morinda citrifolia (noni) and 
kava (Piper methysticum)” at an international 
conference at the JSS College of Pharmacy in 
Ooty, India.

USP boasts an extensive sports programme to provide staff  and 
students with opportunities for relaxation, exercise, and even some 
friendly competition.  Th e University sent its volleyball team to 
Australia to compete in the “Good Neighbour Tournament” in 
November 2009.

USP scientists completed their six-year 
archaeological excavation of the Bourewa site, 
Fiji’s earliest-known sett lement, in February 
2009.  Th e team found Lapita pott ery and stone 
adzes, which is evidence of sett lement around 
1150 BC.  

USP scientists are the fi rst to have successfully 
raised the Macrobrachium lar. (freshwater 
shrimp) to the post-larval stage. In doing so, 
this proves that the Macrobrachium lar. can be 
cultivated for aquaculture in the Pacifi c.  Th is 
is documented in Monal Lal’s Master’s thesis 
titled “Spawning and Land Rearing of Monkey 
River Prawn (Macrobrachium lar.)” which was 
supervised by Johnson Seeto, Curator in the 
Division of Marine Studies, School of Islands 
and Oceans.  

Research carried out by Dr Surendra Prasad in the 
Division of Chemistry looked at the nutritional eff ects 
of cooking particular types of vegetables common in 
the Pacifi c Islands.  Th e results were published in the 
high-impact journal Food Chemistry.

Traditional Medicine of the 
Marshall Islands was writt en by 
Dr Irene Taafaki (Director of the 
Marshall Islands Campus), Maria 
Kabua Fowler, and Professor 
Randolph Th aman of the School 
of Islands and Oceans. 

More Highlights...
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USP alumnus Ms Merewalesi 
Nailatikau used her many talents, 
including excellent public speaking 
skills, to win the Miss South Pacifi c 
Pageant in 2009.

Th e Eduniversal International 
Scientifi c Committ ee recognised the 
Faculty of Business and Economics 
with its “3 Palmes” award in 2009, 
which is given only to excellent 
business schools.  

Th e Macquarie Dictionary of English for the Fiji Islands was published. 
Th is landmark volume was edited by renowned Pacifi c linguist and 
Associate Professor in the School of Language, Arts and Media, Dr 
Paul Geraghty, in cooperation with France Mugler and Jan Tent.

Professor Dyno Keatinge, Director -General of the 
World Vegetable Research and Development Centre 
in Taiwan, visited the Alafua Campus to give a lecture 
on the importance of eating vegetables for good health. 
Studies show that Pacifi c Island people need to eat 
more vegetables in order to avoid health problems.

Research published in 2009 by staff  of the 
School of Biological and Chemical Sciences 
included Vimlesh Chand’s and Surendra 
Prasad’s “Trace determination and chemical 
speciation of selenium in environmental 
water samples” which was published in 
the Journal of Hazardous Materials, and 
Surendra Prasad’s and Ram K. Agarwal’s 
“Synthesis, magneto-spectral, electrochemical, 
thermal characterization and antimicrobial 
investigations of some nickel complexes of 
hydrazones of isoniazid” which was published 
in the Journal of the Korean Chemical Society.  

Well-known Fiji golfer, Vijay Singh, 
was the subject of innovative research 
by Dr Mohit Prasad of the School of 
Language, Arts and Media.  Dr Prasad 
argues that the kind of work ethic that 
is ingrained in successful people like 
Vijay Singh is actually close to the 
norm for Pacifi c peoples.

One of the editors of Pacifi c Voices:  
Equity and Sustainability in Pacifi c 
Islands Fisheries is Dr Joeli Veitayaki 
of the Division of Marine Studies, 
School of Islands and Oceans.  

Patrick D Nunn, Professor of Oceanic Geoscience and 
current Pro Vice-Chancellor for Research and Innovation, 
wrote Climate, Environment and Society in the Pacifi c during 
the Last Millennium, which was published in 2007, as well 
as Vanished Islands and Hidden Continents of the Pacifi c, 
which was published in 2009 and was named as one of the 
Best of the Best fr om the University Presses by the American 
Library Association.    

Chemistry Serves the South Pacifi c 
was edited by Emeritus Professor 
Subramanium Sotheeswaran and Fr 
John Bonato, both from the School 
of Biological and Chemical Sciences, 
and was published by the Chemical 
Society of the South Pacifi c.  

Educational Ideas fr om Oceania was 
edited by Professor Konai Helu 
Th aman, the UNESCO Chair in 
Teacher Education and Culture at the 
School of Education, in 2009.

27
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In July, the University’s Laucala Campus hosted the Pacific Youth Festival, which 
saw 800 young people from 30 countries come together to discuss issues and 
opportunities. The Festival was marked by six days of symposia, workshops, art 
exhibitions, music and dance displays.

Among the many distinguished persons to give public lectures at the 
University in 2009 was Dr Julia Marton-Lefévre, Director-General of IUCN, the 
International Union for the Conservation of Nature. She gave a provocative talk 
on “Getting Development Right: Investing in Natural Capital.”

A group of academic staff from the University received the  prestigious Award 
for Outstanding Research on Development from the Global Development 
Network. From left to right, Professor Biman Chand Prasad, Dr Gurmeet Singh, 
Professor RD Pathak, and Leone Limalevu (inset), 

Ravin Lal, a University staff member studying for his PhD at Griffith University 
(Australia) was awarded the Greg Urwin Award for Leadership Development

Sepeti Matararaba, Field Officer at the Fiji Museum was awarded an honorary 
Masters degree by the University in recognition of his considerable achievements 
in the fields of Archaeology and Pacific Prehistory.

Moffat Mamu of the Solomon Star newspaper is a Journalism graduate of the 
University. He travelled to Tokyo to receive his first prize in the Asia-Pacific 
Journalism Awards for an article on climate change.

More Highlights...
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Performance
& Progress

Quality Matt ers: 2009
Th e University of the South Pacifi c prides itself on its quality – in all 
aspects of its functions.  Here are some of the quality highlights from 
2009.

External Reviews ~ the process of regular external reviews was 
reactivated in 2009.  Ten academic sections were reviewed between 
May and December by eminent academics.

Committ ee Restructure ~ faculty-level committ ees were 
redefi ned in 2009 to make them more inclusive and consultative.  
Th e membership of advisory committ ees for academic programmes 
were expanded to include external stakeholders.

Student Charter ~ a charter explaining the rights and 
responsibilities of our students was draft ed in 2009 and circulated 
widely for comment.  We want our students to be properly informed 
about these matt ers.

Pacifi c Qualifi cations Framework ~ the University is working 
with its regional partners to develop a Pacifi c Qualifi cations 
Framework which will allow everyone to know instantly the relative 
value of their qualifi cations at both tertiary and sub-tertiary levels.

PVC (Planning and Quality) ~ the importance of quality to the 
University was refl ected in the establishment of a new position of 
Pro Vice-Chancellor (Planning and Quality) in 2009.  In December, 
Dr Michael Gregory was appointed to this key position.
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“The Senate 
has a role to 
play to ensure 
USP’s future as 
a sustainable 
institution 
in a more 
competitive, 
technologically 
evolving, and 
increasingly 
uncertain 
and fragile 
environment, 
and that people 
are needed who 
share this vision, 
can commit to 
this regional 
university, and 
are prepared 
to contribute 
positive energy 
and solutions.”

(Minutes of Senate, 22 
April, 2009).

Learning & Teaching
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T hroughout 2009, there was a focus on 
specific learning and teaching initiatives 
aimed at promoting quality, relevance and 

sustainability at the University.  These were driven by the 
senior academic leadership of the University, something 
affirmed by the Vice-Chancellor in the first Senate 
meeting for 2009 –

“The Senate has a role to play to ensure USP’s future 
as a sustainable institution in a more competitive, 
technologically evolving, and increasingly uncertain and 
fragile environment, and that people are needed who 
share this vision, can commit to this regional university, 
and are prepared to contribute positive energy and 
solutions” (Minutes of Senate, 22 April, 2009).

A key challenge in 2009 was the rationalization of 
courses and programmes, which was addressed in 
various forums throughout the year. Issues of persistently 
undersubscribed courses, new high-demand areas, new 
areas for strategic growth, and the varied demands of the 
market, professions and industry, all played an important 
part in this process, which was deemed necessary so 
that the University would continue to be the premier 
provider of higher education for the Pacific region. 

Of particular note was the establishment of four working 
groups for the generic courses which had been approved 
for all undergraduate students beginning in 2010.  Work 
focused on the first two to be offered - English for 
Academic Purposes (UU114) and Communications 
and Information Literacies. Each working group was led 
and facilitated by a senior staff member and comprised 
a multidisciplinary membership to reflect the broad 
generic nature of these courses.

A new structure for the Centre of Flexible and Distance 
Learning/CFDL (replacing the Centre for Educational 
Development and Technology/CEDT) was confirmed 
together with the standardizing of titles and terms of 
references of all Faculty structures.  As part of the ongoing 
work of the Senate Working Group, the functions and 
terms of references of all committees were revisited (and 
if necessary, rewritten) to ensure that these actually have 
the intended functions and clear reporting lines to either 
Senate and Council. 

Key learning and teaching documents like the Learning 
and Teaching Policy and Plan, USP Graduate Attributes, 
and the Student Charter were drafted in 2009.  An 
institutional subscription to the anti-plagiarism software 
Turnitin reflects the University’s zero tolerance of 
plagiarism and other forms of cheating; the program was 
adapted for Moodle with training for staff and students 
organized. 

In an attempt to generate university-wide ownership 
of learning and teaching, the University inaugurated 
two activities which will henceforth be part of the 
institutional almanac of events. 

The first of these was the two-day Senior Management 
Team and Heads of Schools Retreat held on 31 July–01 
August at the Novotel Tradewinds in Suva. The retreat 
was aimed at bringing together the senior management 
and academic leadership of the University to reassess 
issues of academic rationalization and consolidation 
and to commit to an academic programme that is 
quality driven, responsive and relevant to the needs of 
the Pacific region, and above all is sustainable. 

The second of these activities was the Vice-Chancellor’s 
Learning and Teaching Forum held on 17-18 
September. Aimed at bringing together experiences 
and good practices around excellence in teaching, 
course development, pedagogy and new innovations, 
the Forum was fortunate to secure the services of 
Professor Richard Larkins, former Vice-Chancellor 
and President of Monash University, and past Chair of 
Universities Australia, to deliver the keynote address 
and be a resource person and adviser for the two days 
of exchanges and presentations; the latter from faculties 
and academic support sections.  As the University 
aspires to promote excellence in learning and teaching, 
it has been agreed that categories of excellence in the 
areas of teaching and innovativeness will be developed 
and rewarded at future forums.
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“The ambit of 
student support 
aims to respond 
to the learning 
needs of the 
University’s 
students which 
will contribute 
to higher levels 
of successful 
achievement, 
increased 
pass rates, 
progression, 
retention, and 
completion 
times.”

Student Support
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F ollowing from the 2008 Quality Audit, the 
University began to treat Student Support 
as a discrete priority area in 2009.  As a 

result, it has undergone a significant change in terms 
of visibility, vibrancy and versatility.  There are three 
levels of student support that permeate the University’s 
operations - institutional, sectional, and stakeholder.

The institutional commitment to quality student 
support is reflected in the new Strategic Plan (2010-
2012) and is the responsibility of the PVC (L&T).  
The ambit of student support aims to respond to the 
learning needs of the University’s students which will 
contribute to higher levels of successful achievement, 
increased pass rates, progression, retention, and 
completion times. This commitment to excellence in 
academic achievement resulted in the endorsement of 
the Vice-Chancellor’s initiative for the Pacific Academic 
Excellence (PAE) Awards in the form of three-year 
undergraduate scholarships to be offered to the highest-
performing students in the national 7th form exam (or 
its equivalent) and to the two highest USP Foundation 
Studies performers in Science and Social Science from 
within the region comprising the 12 member states of 
the University. The inaugural PAE awards, which total 
14, are to be offered for the first time in 2010. 

The appointment of an experienced and energetic 
General Manager Campus Life, (as a successor to 
the Provost) has more than met expectations in 
terms of turning Campus Life around and making it 
more student-focused, centred and outcomed.  The 
confirmation by Senate of the Campus Life Committee 
to replace the Community Services Committee reflects 
the University’s renewed commitment in the area of 
student support.

Activities like an Orientation Week (for new students) at 
the beginning of the new academic year and the provision 
of specific activities for new AusAID sponsored students, 
new Foundation students, as well as Faculty-driven 
induction activities in the areas of business, arts and 
the humanities, and science for new degree entrants, all 
hone in on the importance of targeted student support.  
Most of these activities utilize staff and senior students 
from across the University community.

Moodle is the University’s learning management system 
located and managed by the Centre for Flexible and 
Distance Learning (CFDL).  It delivers courses and 
programmes using this sophisticated learning platform. 
In addition, the provision of student Moodle packs in 
orientation kits across all campuses is indicative of the 
institutional commitment towards making student 
support meaningful to students and sustainable in 

the long run. The organization of upskilling sessions 
in Moodle for both staff and students is all part of the 
University’s commitment to quality student support.

In addition to student support activities provided by 
CFDL, other sectional inputs towards student support 
is amply reflected by the activities of the Library, ITS, 
Faculties and the USPSA (Student Association). The 
Library employs liaison staff who provide subject 
specific assistance to staff and students as well in all 
aspects of library research and referencing. Information 
for new students was given as part of library tours 
during Orientation Week and on the Open Day.  ITS 
continued to conduct upskilling workshops for students 
in all aspects of computing and information technology 
skills. Remedial classes and extra tutorials for students 
were provided by Faculties and peer mentors facilitated 
by Counselling Services in the areas of Accounting, 
Mathematics and the Sciences as and when required - or 
requested by particular sponsors.

With regards to the University’s response to requests 
by external stakeholders in the area of student support, 
this is reflected in the current AusAID-USP contract 
relating to the management of the Australian Regional 
Development Scholarship (ARDS) awardees at 
USP. This ARDS contract was recently reviewed to 
also include ARDS awardees studying at Alafua and 
Emalus.  In response to requests from member-country 
governments, the University committed office space to 
Scholarship Officers from the Ministry of Indigenous 
Affairs (Fiji), Samoa, and Solomon Islands.

In short, student support at the University took on a 
fresh and new lease of life in 2009 in that all the different 
activities became integrated under the office of the PVC 
(L&T), something that is in line with the focus of the 
new Strategic Plan which is student-centred and focused. 
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“Much work in 
2009 targeted 
the collection 
and analysis of 
data relating to 
past research 
activity and the 
development 
of protocols 
relating to the 
quantitative 
assessment of 
these that will be 
used to measure 
the University’s 
research 
performance 
each year.”

Research, Graduate Affairs & Internationalization
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n 2009 there was a major re-organization 
of research management at the University, 
marked by the appointment of a Pro 

Vice-Chancellor (Research and Innovation), the 
establishment of a Research Office with five full-time 
professional staff.  The Research Office benefitted from 
a visit by Emeritus Professor Frank Larkins, formerly 
Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Research) at the University of 
Melbourne. 

The principal purpose of the Research Office is four-fold.

It is to have oversight of all University research 
activities, to identify and assist those areas of 
priority development or high potential, develop 
and implement appropriate strategies, and manage 
funding, including that associated with Graduate 
Assistantships.

It is to give advice and support to all University 
researchers, by explaining policies and procedures, 
by giving help to write research proposals and to 
meeting the reporting requirements of external 
research grants, and to help staff and postgraduate 
students make contact with potential collaborators 
(or supervisors) both within the University and in 
other institutions.

It is to disseminate the results of the University’s 
research activities to all regional stakeholders and 
beyond, and particularly to showcase research 
excellence.  

In the shorter term, the Research Office is also 
mandated to put in place appropriate policies and 
procedures, to enhance the research culture of the 
University, to engage more staff and students in 
research, and to improve the capacity of early-career 
staff to supervise postgraduate research students.

In 2009, the Research Office made excellent progress 
towards achieving these goals.  A large number of policies 
and procedure documents that were identified as needed 
in the 2008 Quality Audit were written, approved and 
activated.  Principal among these were documents 
related to research ethics (see www.usp.ac.fj/ethics) 
and intellectual property (www.usp.ac.fj/ip) but also 
produced was a comprehensive Research Procedures 
document (in draft) and a Handbook for Research 
Students and Supervisors (www.usp.ac.fj/pghandbook) 
which explains the expectations of both.

Much work in 2009 targeted the collection and 
analysis of data relating to past research activity and the 
development of protocols relating to the quantitative 

assessment of these that will be used to measure the 
University’s research performance each year.

A model to focus University research activities on key 
challenges facing the countries of the University region 
was developed.  It involves the introduction of research 
clusters into which almost all internal research funding 
(including Graduate Assistantships) will be channelled 
from the start of 2011.  

In addition, discussions with various groups of staff 
and external stakeholders led to a push to identify 
external funding for research in four key areas.  In 
the area of climate change, which remains a major 
concern for Pacific Island countries in the future, funds 
were obtained/promised from both AusAID and the 
European Union which will see a significant number 
of postgraduate scholarships, funding for research, as 
well as institutional strengthening being carried out 
over the next six years.  This funding, which is likely 
to be supplemented from other sources, will see the 
University become the principal research institution for 
climate change in the Pacific region.  A second key area is 
renewable energy and the Research Office worked with a 
group in Physics and Engineering to identify focus areas 
and funding sources.  The other two areas are Pacific 
education and Pacific cultures, the initial focus of the 
latter being the establishment and funding of a Centre 
for Endangered Languages at the University.

In 2009, the Research Office organized the first-ever 
Orientation for Postgraduate Students.  It awarded 15 
Graduate Assistantships (scholarships) to postgraduate 
research students.  Also, in recognition of the lack of 
research skills evident among many such students, it 
developed and ran (on five Saturdays in Semester 2) 
a series of Essential Research Skills seminars which 
attracted large numbers of postgraduate students.

With the aim of enhancing the research culture of the 
University, a Research Day was run at the archaeological 
site at Bourewa (Fiji) which about 50 staff and graduate 
students visited.  The Research Office also produced a 
wall calendar for 2010 with inspirational quotations 
designed to stimulate enquiry and boost the University’s 
institutional research culture.

In 2009, a comprehensive research website (www.usp.
ac.fj/research) was established with all key documents 
available on it.  A shadow website is being created to 
replace this in mid-2010.  In addition, an Information 
Pack, a wall calendar (for 2010), and a series of 
posters (in five languages) explaining the University’s 
attractiveness as a research institution were produced .  
Two of the posters are shown on the next page.  

1

2

3

4

Research, Graduate Affairs & Internationalization I
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The Research Office on Laucala Campus was re-
designed and is being established as a one-stop shop for 
postgraduate student and staff researchers, current and 
potential, who are seeking information about research 
opportunities and funding.  It is expected to become 
fully operational in this role by mid-2010.

International
An International Students’ Officer was appointed in 
June 2009 and a temporary assistant two months later.  
Through their efforts, the University has joined several 
international Study Abroad agencies and the prospects 

for significant increases in future enrolments of 
international students look promising.  Most recruitment 
efforts have been targeted at North America and Europe 
although contacts have also been made with agencies in 
China and elsewhere.  

An international website was created (www.international.
usp.ac.fj) was created and has proved extraordinarily 
popular.  In addition, recruitment posters were mailed to 
more than 800 universities and Study Abroad agencies 
worldwide.  Two of these posters are shown below.
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Th e Vice-Chancellor’s Research Prizes 
were awarded in 2009 as follows.
Research Excellence ~ jointly awarded to

Dr Sushil Kumar (Faculty of Science and Technology) for his 
research into probing near-Earth space using Very Low Frequency 
(VLF) radio waves,   

Professor Wadan Narsey (Faculty of Business and Economics) for 
his research into poverty in Fiji.

Best Publication
Dr Dhana Rao (Faculty of Science and Technology) for her 
lead-authored paper in the journal Applied and Environmental 
Microbiology [Impact Factor 4.004] on how low densities of 
epiphytic bacteria from the marine alga Ulva australis inhibit 
sett lement of fouling organisms.  

Student Research
Hewage Perera  for her research in MG410 on cultural infl uences on 
Fiji consumers’ buying habits.

&
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T he University’s external relationships help 
it to maximize its contributions to the 
peoples of the Pacifi c.  Th ese relationships 

also serve to enhance regional and international 
recognition of the high-quality work of our staff  and 
students, particularly in areas of key interest to the 
University and its member governments.  In 2009, these 
included climate change, biodiversity conservation, 
economic development, education for sustainable 
development (ESD), land management, marine studies, 
renewable energy, and ICT for human security and 
human development. 

A number of signifi cant partnerships were formed in 
2009 between the University and other organizations, 
both within the region and internationally.  Twenty-three 
new partnerships were signed in 2009.  Of particular 
mention are those between the University and IUCN, 
SPREP, FFA, ESDRC, UNESCO, and UNFPA.  Th e 
partnership with IUCN spawned a high-profi le public 
lecture series that was launched by the organization’s 
Director-General, Julia Marton-Lefèvre, in June 2009.  
Among the other distinguished speakers in this series 
has been William Dickinson, a former President of the 
Geological Society in America, who spoke to around 
180 people in November 2009 about his work on the 
origins of Pacifi c islands.  

Th e University benefi tt ed from generous aid funding 
from its donor partners in 2009. Th e Governments of 
Japan, Australia, New Zealand and the EU continue 
to be the largest donors to the University.  In addition, 
the Governments of Australia and New Zealand are 
the only two countries which contribute a portion of 
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“A number 
of signifi cant 
partnerships 
were formed in 
2009 between 
the University 
and other 
organizations, 
both within 
the region and 
internationally.  
Twenty-
three new 
partnerships 
were signed in 
2009.” 

Regional & Community Engagement
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their aid budgets to the University’s recurrent budget.  
In 2009, the Government of Australia increased their 
contribution to the University’s operations by 23% over 
2008.  Various development partners gave funds for 
projects in particular areas, including climate change, land 
management, renewable energy, ESD, gender studies, 
ICT for human security and human development, and 
fisheries. In relation to the management of donor funds, 
it is pleasing to note that the EU assessment of the 
University in March 2009 to assess the robustness of its 
systems, policies and procedures gave an overall good 
rating for the institution.

The Government of Australia gave the University A$24m 
to fund the establishment of its Pacific Islands Centre for 
Public Administration (PICPA), which is expected to be 
up and running in early 2010. The Centre is to be part of 
the University and will address the issues around public-
sector service delivery in the Pacific. 

The University is also pleased to report that the 
Government of Japan approved the funding of the 
third building that makes up the Japan-Pacific ICT 
Centre.  Work on the construction of this Multipurpose 
Lecture Theatre will commence in May 2010. In 
addition, a new project ICT for Human Security and 
Human Development was approved for funding by the 
Government of Japan and will commence in February 
2010.

In April 2009, an MOU was signed between the 
Government of India (GOI), the Asian Development 
Bank (ADB), and the University for an ICT-based 
education project. This project sees the GOI assisting 
the member countries of the University in the fields of 
information and communication technology education 
and sits within the overall university ICT developments 
and plans in which the Government of Japan plays a 
leading role.  This is the first support of its kind through 
ADB by GOI and is being offered in the spirit of South-
South cooperation. This agreement also opens up future 
loan opportunities with ADB.

Through its Faculty of Business and Economics, the 
University coordinated a number of economic updates 
and development dialogues during 2009.  These included 
the Fiji Economy Update (in Suva and Labasa), the 
Solomon Islands Development Dialogue (in Honiara), 
the Vanuatu Development Dialogue (in Port Vila), and 
the Samoa Economy Update (in Apia).  These events 
attracted positive comment from a range of stakeholders.  
A successful Pacific Climate Change Roundtable 
(PCCR) was chaired by PVC (R&I) in Majuro, Marshall 
Islands.

The University held a number of successful graduations in 
2009 attended by the Vice-Chancellor. Two graduations 

were held in Laucala, one each in Honiara, Alafua and 
Emalus.

In addition, the Vice-Chancellor attended a number 
of important international and regional meetings. He 
attended the second meeting of Universities Australia 
that brought together all 38 Vice-Chancellors of 
Australian universities. The Universities Australia 
meeting was followed by its Inaugural Conference on 
Higher Education.  Many useful papers were presented 
and contacts made as a result of the conference. 

The meeting of the Forum Education Ministers’ 
Meeting (FEdMM) took place in Tonga in March 2009.  
The University’s key role in education throughout the 
region was repeatedly and fully acknowledged. The 
Vice-Chancellor was able to make a presentation to 
the Ministers on the University’s new Strategic Plan, 
education priorities and finances.  The Deputy Vice 
Chancellor spoke to the meeting about IOE, PRIDE 
and ESD. 

The Vice-Chancellor visited Korea in October 2009 
as a guest of the Korea Foundation. This visit was 
undertaken with the view of broadening the University’s 
international relationships with Korea both in terms 
of university exchange and the development of 
partnerships.  An MOU was signed in December with 
Korea University.

The Campuses continue to move firmly forward with 
their plans to upgrade facilities and increase student 
numbers.  Of note is that admissions have been devolved 
to campuses to allow streamlining of the processes 
involved.  Towards the end of 2009, considerable 
marketing targeting increased enrollments of new 
students in 2010 and beyond took place.  A Framework 
for Regional Community and Continuing Education 
(RCCE) has been prepared with RCCE coordinators 
employed in a number of campuses where there is 
a demand for such courses.  A draft Framework for 
Qualifications for RCCE is now ready. 

The re-location of the University’s Institute of Education 
(IOE) from Laucala to Tonga is now complete.  It is 
expected that the IOE will thrive in its new home as new 
opportunities appear.

Advisory boards with expert members from outside 
the University continue to provide valuable advice and 
strategic support to Schools and Institutes across the 
institution. New advisory boards were formed in 2009 
for Land Management, Computing Science, Climate 
Change, Gender Studies, Institute of Education, and 
PACLII. 

Regional & Community Engagement
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“Human 
Resources is key 
to the University 
meeting its 
performance 
targets and 
goals under the 
Strategic Plan 
2010–2012. It 
is one of the six 
priority areas 
in the plan and 
strategies are 
already being 
implemented 
and will be 
monitored 
closely in the 
new year.” 

Human Resources & Staff Support  
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A key component of the University’s 
commitment to quality education is its 
staff. In 2009 the University was able to fill a 

number of important senior positions that had remained 
vacant for some time. These include the Professor of 
Computing Science, PVC Planning & Quality, Director 
of Property and Facilities, Asset and Project Manager, 
Group Manager Campus Life, Associate Professor of 
Governance, Director of the Institute of Education, 
Professor of Pacific Studies and Director of OCAC, and 
the Director of the Centre for Flexible and Distance 
Learning.

A number of Adjunct Professors of the University 
were also appointed including Dr John E Hay, who is 
attached to the Cook Islands Campus, and Dr Satendra 
Prasad in Governance, Development Studies and 
International Relations. The University developed plans 
to make further adjunct appointments in sustainable 
development, climate change, and GIS to enlarge and 
strengthen its research and teaching capacity in these 
key areas. 

The University also introduced a new Teaching Assistant 
category to work within schools and faculties to assist 
with learning and teaching. To build its cohort of young 
academics, a new policy was introduced whereby all 
gold medallists are offered scholarships to pursue 
postgraduate research as well as assist with teaching in 
their respective schools and faculties.

Despite these key developments, a number of positions 
in both academic and academic support areas remained 
difficult to fill. These include positions in Accounting 
and Financial Management, Economics, Marine Studies, 
Climate Change, Teacher Education, the Faculty of 
Arts and Law Dean, Information Systems personnel, 
librarians, and accountants in the Finance Section. Most 
of these positions have been advertised more than twice 
but failed to attract suitable candidates. As a result, the 
University has expanded its advertising so as to be able 
to attract quality applicants from a wider area for the 
various positions advertised.  

At the end of 2009, the total number of fulltime staff 
employed by the University was 1,355.  Of this number, 
365 are academic staff and 183 comparable staff.  
Administrative, technical and service staff comprise the 
remainder. 

In its performance review of staff in 2009, the University 
promoted one staff member to Associate Professor and 
six to Senior Lecturer level. Of particular note is Dr Lal of 
the School of Computing, Information and Mathematical 
Sciences, who was promoted from Assistant Lecturer 

to Senior Lecturer based on his world-class research in 
the area of artificial intelligence. While attached to the 
University of the Ryukyus in Japan, Dr Lal received 
its President’s Honorary Award in recognition of his 
scholarly achievement following which he published 
seven papers in high-impact international journals.

In 2009 a major review of the Human Resources section 
was undertaken. A report with recommendations was 
submitted to the Vice-Chancellor in September and 
a joint working group of management and the staff 
association was established to oversee and implement 
the recommendations.  Ms Liz Barae, Head of Human 
Resources at the University of Melbourne, was appointed 
as an adviser to the Vice-Chancellor to assist the 
University with this work. She undertook a number of 
key activities on a pro bono basis.  One recommendation 
made in the review was the appointment of a Senior 
Executive Officer to head the Human Resources section. 
It is expected that this appointment will be made in early 
2010.

Another key development has been the University’s 
support for staff development at all levels and across 
all campuses, focused on developing skills and capacity 
in the key areas aligned to the new Strategic Plan 
2010–2012.  A number of academic staff were awarded 
scholarships to pursue postgraduate studies internally 
and abroad.

During the year, the management continued regular 
meetings with the three unions with issues focusing 
largely in the areas of workload for academic staff, 
salaries, and redundancies. In the new year under 
the new committee structure, the unions will have 
representation in the Staff Policy Committee. This is 
seen as a progressive move by the Vice-Chancellor to 
engage more fully with the unions in the key areas that 
may affect staff in their work places.

Human Resources is key to the University meeting its 
performance targets and goals under the Strategic Plan 
2010–2012.  It is one of the six priority areas in the plan 
and strategies are already being implemented and will be 
monitored closely in the new year. This will ensure our 
staff are given the opportunities and leadership to meet 
the targets set and perform to expectations.   
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“Two notable 
achievements 
during the year 
were the USP 
Strategic Plan 
2010-2012 and 
the University 
Grants 
Committ ee 
Triennial 
Submission 
2010-2012 
which were 
both prepared 
by University 
Management in 
record time.” 

Governance & Management

A number of signifi cant changes were achieved in 2009 under the direction of the 
USP Council Task Force on Governance (TFG) and University Management. 
Th e NZAid funding of $1.2 million for the Governance and Management 

Enhancement & Strengthening Project had considerable impact in accelerating these changes 
which focused on three topics, discussed separately below.

Governance Enhancement and Review
A new USP Committ ee Governance structure became eff ective in August 2009, as a result of 
the reform of the Royal Charter and USP Statutes, Standing Orders of Council, Ordinances 
and Committ ee Terms of References. Th e reforms provide the USP Council with a clearer, 
more relevant legal framework, streamlined membership and authority to delegate more of 
its powers to its committ ees and appropriate offi  cers without the lengthy referral back to, and 
approval by, the Privy Council as required for the last 40 years.  Th e reform also enables the 
USP Council to make timely and informed decisions and provide greater clarity of roles and 
responsibilities at the governance and management levels. 

Th e approved changes included the creation of the federal University of the South Pacifi c 
Students’ Association to represent all students enrolled at USP and at the USP Council. Th e 
new-look USP Council held its fi rst meeting in October 2009.

Th e external Review of USP Member Country Contributions was carried out in the fi rst 
quarter of 2009 and the recommendations (Hills Report) accepted by the USP Council in 
June.  Th e key recommendations were to maintain the current contribution formula over 
the next triennium and for the University to develop a new funding formula to be eff ective 
from 2013.  Th is is crucial if the USP Member Countries are to be satisfi ed that their fi nancial 
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contributions rightly refl ect the cost of USP tertiary 
education provision for their students.

Th e Review of Senior Management Remuneration and 
Academic Staff  Salaries was also completed in 2009. 
Th e responses to and appropriate consultations on the 
recommendations of the Hay Group Reports are being 
processed, with decisions on the recommendations 
expected in 2010.

A number of revisions were also sanctioned by the TFG 
to enhance the information package for Council, the 
Induction Kit for Council members and the content, 
structure and style of the USP Annual Report to make 
these more responsive to stakeholder expectations. 

Signifi cant improvements were also made in fi nancial 
governance and in strengthening the role of the 
Finance and Investments Committ ee in 2009.  Th rough 
the engagement and advice of external experts, the 
planning, monitoring and reporting mechanisms of the 
Committ ee were revised to enable it to more eff ectively 
carry out its fi nancial governance role in the University 
and to achieve what it planned annually.

Strengthening University Planning 
and Decision Support 
Th e Vice-Chancellor introduced a new management 
structure in March 2009. Th is provides clarity 
regarding the USP management roles, devolution and 
accountability guidelines, standardizes the administrative 
arrangements across the University Faculties, and ensures 
increased cost eff ectiveness. Th e overall philosophy of 
the new management structure, processes and policies 
is to promote a facilitative environment for decision 
making within a robust performance and accountability 
framework.  A new position of Deputy Vice-Chancellor 
(Learning and Teaching) was established, replacing the 
existing position of Pro Vice-Chancellor (Learning and 
Teaching). Th e position of the Registrar was removed 
from the management structure in line with practice in 
many universities. 

Th e University Council took a more active role and 
contributed at diff erent levels to USP strategic planning 
in 2009.  A workshop focusing on strategic planning 
was conducted for Council members prior to the 
June Council meeting.  A second workshop focusing 
on monitoring and evaluating strategic plans was 
conducted prior to the October Council meeting.  Th ese 
workshops raised Council’s awareness of the processes 
of the University’s planning and resource management 
and, more importantly, on Council’s role in monitoring 
the implementation and achievement of USP’s strategic 
plan.  Th e workshops also gave the Council members 
a new and more informal forum for expressing and 
exchanging their views on the Strategic Plan, its 

outcome and its benefi ts to the individual member 
countries, and to the University.  Th is mechanism for 
engagement was welcomed by Council members who 
appreciated a forum which enabled frank, honest and 
open communication and the opportunity for active 
engagement with the USP strategic agenda. 

Two notable achievements during the year were the 
USP Strategic Plan 2010-2012 and the University 
Grants Committ ee Triennial Submission 2010-2012, 
which were both prepared by University Management 
in record time.  For the fi rst time, the Strategic Plan 
was externally reviewed; involved the stakeholders in 
its preparation; was fully costed; had timelines for the 
achievement of KPIs; and had strong implementation 
and monitoring mechanisms.

Th e University also got approval from the University 
Grants Committ ee (UGC) to move from ad-hoc 
yearly funding from governments to a new triennial 
arrangement starting from 2010.  Th e Report to UGC, 
like the Strategic Plan 2010-2012, was fully costed and 
included the strategic plan initiatives and did not seek 
additional funding from member governments.  In 
fact, the University sought a 2% reduction in member 
country contributions in 2010 over 2009.

Th e University Management has also signaled a major 
shift  from Budget to Annual Plans. Th e implementation 
of the fi rst Annual Plan and the fi nalization of the 2010 
Annual Plan were both carried out in 2009.

Financial Capability and Sustainability
Th e Review of Information Technology Services (ITS) 
and the Review of the Human Resources (HR) Offi  ce 
were also carried out and completed in 2009. Th ese 
reviews, like many other developments in the University, 
have generated much thought and discussion about 
what the University needs if it is to achieve the goals of 
its Strategic Plan 2010-2012 and to be sustainable in the 
future. A HR Implementation Committ ee, endorsed 
by the University Management to implement the 
recommendations of the Daysh Report, commenced 
its work in November 2009.  Th e focus is on developing 
the appropriate HR offi  ce structure, the University’s HR 
Strategy, and staff  development and capacity building.  
Management is currently considering the outcome of 
the ITS review and will also determine an appropriate 
implementation plan to action the recommendations of 
the Infoshield Report. 

Th e University Management has also embarked on 
developing the University Risk Management Strategy.  
Th e audit of the risk management levels at the University 
commenced in 2009 and is to be completed in 2010.  An 
assessment of the appropriate expertise and resources to 
manage this critical function is also underway.
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Income

Government Grants 49,923,430

Tuition Fees 25,000,000

Aid & Donations 21,204,900

Trading Activities 14,667,485

Other Income 7,793,971

Release of Deferred Revenue 4,741.400

Interest Income 1,000,000

Total Income 124,331,186

Expenditure

Pay 60,100,000

Non-Pay

Council 
Approved Budget 
2009: Income & 

Expenditure 

General Expenses 48,999,427

Depreciation 5,776,600

Provisions & Accruals 850,000

Provisions for Restructure 2,600,000

Provision for Grants Shortfalls 

Strategic Fund 1,000,000

Contingency 500,000

Total  Non-Pay 59,726,027

Total Expenditure 119,826,027

Operating Surplus 4,505,159

$
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Statement of
Accounting 

Policies

REPORTING ENTITY
The University of the South Pacific was established by Royal Charter 
of the University in 1970. It is a not for profit educational institution 
providing higher education to member regional countries, with its 
main operations domiciled in Fiji. The registered office is at Laucala 
Bay Campus, Suva, Fiji. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the University’s 
Finance and Investments Committee on 19th April 2010.

Reporting Period
The financial statements are reported for the financial year 
from 1 January to 31 December 2009.

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
and their interpretations issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

Basis of Preparation
The financial statements are prepared on the basis of 
historical costs and, except where stated, do not take into 
account current valuation of non-current assets. 

The concepts of the accrual method and going concern basis 
of accounting are applied. The Finance and Investments 
Committee and officers of the University believe that the 
basis for preparation of the accounts is appropriate and 
that the University will be able to continue its normal 
operations in the next 12 months. The Committee and 
the officers resolved that the classification and carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities included in these accounts 
are appropriate.

All amounts shown in the financial statements are expressed 
in Fijian dollars. 

Basis of Consolidation
The format of the University’s Annual Financial Statements 
is approved by the Finance and Investments Committee on 
behalf of Council. 

The Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Income 
and Expenditure and Statement of Cash Flows are prepared 
on a consolidated basis including all the funds of the 
University.

Principal Activities
The University is the premier provider of tertiary education 

in the Pacific region and an international centre of 
excellence for teaching, research and consulting on all 
aspects of Pacific life. 
 
Segmental Reporting
The University’s academic activities are regarded as a single 
segment of activity since they are undertaken by the same 
staff, using the same premises and financed substantially 
from the same income streams. None of the University’s 
other, peripheral activities achieve the 10% threshold 
which would require separate reporting under IFRS 8 or 
IAS 14. As a regional institution, the University does not 
consider reporting of geographical segmentation below 
regional level to be appropriate and cash flows outside the 
region fall below the reporting threshold.

Property, Plant and Equipment
The policy of the University is not to revalue its property, 
plant and equipment. In view of the specialised nature and 
wide geographical distribution of much of the University’s 
estate and equipment, it is considered that the costs of any 
revaluation to reflect current values would outweigh the 
benefit to users of these financial statements. The value of 
its fixed assets is therefore either their value when originally 
incorporated within the University’s Statement of Financial 
Position, or historical cost if acquired at a later date.

Depreciation
Property, plant and equipment acquired since 31 December 
1993 are recorded at cost and depreciated over their 
estimated useful life:

Motor vehicles are written down on a straight line basis 
over 5 years.

Buildings are written down on a straight line basis over 
50 years i.e. 2% per annum.  

Equipment, Furniture, Fittings and Vessels are written 
down on a straight line basis over 5 years.
 
Computer equipment is written down on a straight 
line basis over 5 years, effective from 1 July 2009.

Freehold land is not depreciated.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The following summary of significant accounting policies  
is given in order to assist in understanding the amounts  
presented in the financial statements.

The depreciation applicable to donated assets is offset 
by a transfer from the Deferred Revenue Reserve to the 
Statement of Income and Expenditure. 

Impairment
Tangible fixed assets are inspected annually by a Board of 
Survey. If the inspection identifies that the carrying amount 
of the fixed asset is overstated, a provision is made for the 
impairment. No such provisions have been found necessary 
at the reporting date.

a
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Deferred Capital Grants
Fixed assets acquired with the aid of specific grants are 
capitalised and depreciated in accordance with the above 
policy, with the related grant being credited to a Deferred 
Revenue Reserve and released to the Statement of Income 
and Expenditure over the expected useful economic life 
of the related fixed assets. The exception to this is when 
the acquisition of a fixed asset is financed either through 
University’s own funds or a loan or finance lease when no 
revenue is deferred to the Reserve.
 
Leased Assets
The University leases some property under operating 
leases. The rentals are charged as an expense over the term 
of the lease.

Assets held under leasing agreements which transfer to 
the University substantially all the benefits and risks of 
ownership of an asset are treated as if the asset had been 
purchased outright. These are capitalised at their fair 
value at the inception of the lease and depreciated over 
the shorter of the lease term and the useful economic life 
of the assets. The capital element outstanding is shown as 
obligations under finance leases. The interest element of the 
lease payments is charged to the Statement of Income and 
Expenditure over the term of the lease.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value.  Cost is determined predominantly on the first-in, 
first-out basis of valuation.  Only inventories which are 
purchased and controlled centrally have been reported 
within the financial statements.  Consumables purchased 
by the University for departmental use and held under 
the control of individual departments have been expensed 
within the accounts at the time of purchase.
 
Accounts Receivable
No provision for doubtful debts is made for sovereign debts 
on the premise that, despite the age of the debt, all such 
debts will eventually be paid.

For all other debts, specific provisions are made against 
debtors to cover debts where the recovery is considered 
doubtful and for all non-sovereign debts six months old or 
more. 

The amounts required to fund the provision for doubtful 
debts are charged to expenditure in the period.  Bad 
debts are generally written off against the provision when 
identified.

Statement of Cash Flows
The following are the definitions of the terms used in the 
statement of cash flows:

Operating Activities include all transactions and other 
events that are not investing or financing activities.

Investing Activities are those relating to the acquisition, 
holding and disposal of property, plant and equipment 
and of investments. Investments can include securities not 
falling within the definition of cash.

Financing Activities are those that result in changes in the 
size and composition of the capital structure. This includes 
both equity and debt not falling within the definition of 
cash. 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits 
held with banks, deposits held at call with banks, other 
short-term deposits and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts 
are included as current liabilities on the Statement of 
Financial Position.  

Employee Benefits
Provision is made in respect of the University’s liability 
for annual leave and is calculated as the amount unpaid 
as at reporting date at current pay rates. Accrued leave is 
expected to be utilised in the following year.      

Foreign Currency Transactions
All foreign currency transactions during the year have been 
brought to account using the exchange rate in effect at the 
date of the transaction.  Foreign currency monetary items 
at balance date are translated at the exchange rate existing 
at that date.

Exchange differences on the University’s assets and 
liabilities are charged to the Statement of Income and 
Expenditure in the financial period in which they arise.

Income Tax
The University is exempt from income tax in accordance 
with the provision of Section 17 of the Fiji Income Tax Act.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised in the financial statements as follows:

Government grants are recognised as revenue on due 
date;

Sponsored Student tuition fees are recognised as 
revenue on due date;

Revenue from major donors is recognised on due date; 
revenue from other donors is recognised on receipt;

Revenue from trading operations is recognised on 
receipt;

Other income is recognised on receipt except where 
a department of the University has arranged for a 
University invoice to be raised to a third party; the 
revenue associated with these invoices is recognised 
on due date;

Interest income is recognised on due date.

Gifts & Donations  
Gifts and donations from Governments and Aid Agencies 
are usually for specified purposes.  These funds are 
separately identified in the accounting system, with 
expenditure recorded against each fund. Gifts which are 
applied to capital items are taken to the Deferred Revenue 
Reserve, at the lower of cost and valuation, and transferred 
to the Statement of Income and Expenditure as income 
over the life of the asset.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Endowment Funds
The University has established Endowment Funds for 
specific purposes. The capital amount of such funds is 
maintained at its original nominal value. The revenue 
generated through the investment of the capital is used 
in accordance with any conditions imposed by Council, 
deed, gift or by the terms of the endowments or bequests. 
Endowment funds are transferred to the Statement of 
Income and Expenditure only when no longer required for 
the purpose for which the fund was originally established. 

Commitment Accounting
The University operates a system of commitment 
accounting for its non-salary expenditure. Expenditure is 
recognised when purchase orders are placed and charged 
against the appropriate cost centre.  

Trade Creditors and Accruals
Liabilities for trade payable and other amounts are carried 
at cost (inclusive of VAT where applicable) which is the 
fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for 
goods and services received whether or not billed to the 
University.

Superannuation Funds  
The University contributes to a number of defined 
contribution superannuation schemes. 

Contributions are made by employees and by the University 
as a percentage of salary or specified amounts as required by 
relevant agreements. The cost to the University is charged 
as an expense at the time it is incurred.

Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative information has been 
reclassified to achieve consistency in disclosure with 
current financial year amounts.

surpluses are invested within approved guidelines.  This 
arrangement covers local, regional and international bank 
accounts which are operated by the University.

Subventions within campuses or from the main Laucala 
campus to other campuses are carried out in order to 
maintain sufficient cash balances in all campuses for the 
funding of day-to-day operations.

Foreign Currency Risk
The University has transactional currency exposures. Such 
exposures arise from receipts or payments in currencies 
other than the University’s main operating currency (FJD), 
as well as accounting for the regional campuses various 
currency denominations.

The University maintains off-shore bank accounts in its 
efforts to provide natural hedge against currency exposures.

Interest Rate Risk
The University’s exposure to the changes in market interest 
rates relates primarily to the investment of surplus cash into 
at call or short term deposits as well as through finance lease 
and utilisation of bank overdrafts.  

Short-term investments are either rolled over at maturity at 
interest rates applicable on roll-over dates, or converted to 
operational use if the need arises at the time of maturity. 
Interest on bank overdrafts is subject to changes in market 
interest rates.

Long-term investments are not feasible due to the nature 
of operations within the University, therefore, avoiding the 
risk of a cashflow mismatch or a liquidity shortfall.

Lending Facilities - Debt, Refinancing and Granting Security
The University ensures that its borrowing, private financing 
and partnership arrangements are negotiated, structured, 
documented and the maturity profile of the raised monies 
managed, with a view to obtaining competitive and 
favourable terms in light of market conditions prevailing at 
the time.

Prior to entering into or negotiating for any agreement to 
increase lending facilities (including leases) or re-finance 
the University’s current borrowing arrangements, approval 
from the Finance and Investments Committee (FIC) must 
be obtained.

In raising capital finance, those with delegated authority 
will take account of:

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 
POLICIES
The University of the South Pacific has on-going exposures to 
foreign currency, liquidity risk and interest rate risk through its 
normal operations.

The overarching policies and objectives of the University’s 
treasury management activities are defined as being the 
“management and control of its cash flow, banking, and 
investment transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks”.

The Finance and Investments Committee reviews and agrees 
policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised 
below.

Liquidity Risk
The University’s objective is to maintain a balance between 
continuity of funding to meet its day-to-day obligations, 
whilst minimising the utilisation of bank overdrafts, which 
in practice, are to be used for contingency purposes only.

Daily operating funds are maintained with the approved 
bankers in the University’s operating bank accounts while 

the University’s powers and rules and, in particular the 
University’s Charter, Statutes, Financial Regulations 
and Scheme for Financial Delegation;

any legal or fiscal statutory restrictions; and

the terms and covenants of borrowing.
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Income

Government Grants 

Student Tuition Fees 

Aid & Donations 

Trading Activities 

Consultancy Income 

Other Income

Release of Deferred Revenue 

Interest Income

Foreign Currency Gain - Realised

Total Operating Income 

Statement of 
Income & 

Expenditure

1

2

3

4

4a

5

6

49,923,430

27,339,344

22,844,291

13,373,779

1,870,590

7,273,430

3,633,384

1,352,417

1,375,625

128,986,290

49,923,430

25,522,779

24,845,892

13,330,307

1,506,585

6,640,705

12,321,879

711,473

-

134,803,050

Notes 2009 2008

Expenditure

Staff Costs

Operating Costs

Depreciation

Provision for Doubtful & Bad Debt Expense

Write down in value of Inventories

Foreign Currency Loss - Unrealised

Interest on Finance Lease

Total Operating Expenditure

7

8

14

55,536,695

51,808,523

5,101,458

(317,634)

141,468

-

31,250

112,301,760

60,323,271

52,549,493

13,877,455

1,026,665

234,424

1,296,416

70,356

129,378,080

Notes 2009 2008

Surplus for the Year 16,684,530 5,424,970

$ $

$ $

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement.

THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC ANNUAL REPORT 2009

FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2009
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Statement of 
Financial Position

Current Assets

Inventories

Accounts Receivable 

Prepayments

Cash and Cash Equivalents

9

10

11

12

4,748,803

7,595,861

451,962

44,773,378

57,570,004

4,803,413

4,816,986

687,115

28,364,986

38,672,500

Notes 2009 2008

$ $

Non-Current Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 14 126,803,711

126,803,711

127,771,666

127,771,666

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement.

THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC ANNUAL REPORT 2009

AT 31 DECEMBER 2009

Total Assets 184,373,715 166,444,166

Current Liabilities

Creditors and Accruals

Bank Overdraft

16

12

17,039,906

103,000

17,142,906

14,348,869

69,436

14,418,305

Total Liabilities 17,142,906 14,517,986

Represented by:

Funds and Reserves

Statement of Income & Expenditure

Endowment Capital

Deferred Revenue Reserve

44,973,024

7,163,327

115,094,458

167,230,809

28,288,494

4,860,381

118,777,305

151,926,180

Total Assets Less Liabilities 167,230,809 151,926,180

Non-Current Liabilities

Creditors and Accruals 17 -

-

99,681

99,681
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Statement of 
Cash Flows

FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2009

Operating Activities

Government Contributions

Student Fees

Aid & Donations

Trading Activities

Other Receipts

Interest Received

Salaries

Other Expenses

Cash provided from Operating
Activities

Interest Paid

Net Cash flows provided from 
Operating Activities

Purchase of Fixed Assets

Net Cash flows used in Investing Activities

Payment of Finance Lease  Liabilities

Other financing activities

Net Cash flow provided from (used in) 
Financing Activities

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash & Cash Equivalents at 1 January

Net Increase in Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash & Cash Equivalents at 31 December

13

47,490,919

27,923,655

22,969,125

12,738,864

7,307,365

1,352,418

119,782,346

(54,704,522)

(46,499,224)

(101,203,746)

18,578,600

(31,250)

18,547,350

Notes 2009 2009 2008 2008

12

(4,182,963)

(292,504)

2,302,945

(4,182,963)

2,010,441

16,374,828

28,295,550

16,374,828

44,670,378

52,125,473

27,849,815

29,768,205

13,068,879

8,326,835

711,473

131,850,680

(61,992,537)

(56,651,009)

(118,643,546)

13,207,134

(70,356)

13,136,778

(2,397,384)

(278,456)

-

(2,397,384)

(278,456)

10,460,938

17,834,612

10,460,938

28,295,550

Investing Activities

Financing Activities

$ $ $ $
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of this statement.
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Statement of 
Changes in Equity

AT 31 DECEMBER 2009

Income & Expenditure Account

Balance at 1 January

Surplus for the Year

Balance at 31 December

28,288,494

16,684,530

44,973,024

22,863,524

5,424,970

28,288,494

2009 2008

Endowment Capital

Balance at 1 January

Foreign Exchange Gain during the year

Balance at 31 December

Analysed as:

Endowments - General

Endowments - Specific

Total Endowment Capital

4,860,381

2,302,946

7,163,327

94,133

7,069,194

7,163,327

4,860,381

-

4,860,381

94,133

4,766,248

4,860,381

Deferred Revenue Reserve

Balance at 1 January

Net Additions during the year

Releases during the year - Depreciation

Releases during the year - Disposals

Balance at 31 December

118,777,305

599,296

(4,122,469)

(159,674)

115,094,458

131,888,864

849,511

(13,171,390)

(789,680)

118,777,305

$ $



55

Notes to the 
Financial 

Statements

THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC ANNUAL REPORT 2009

1  Government Contributions

Cook Islands

Fiji

Kiribati

Marshall Islands

Nauru

Niue

Samoa

Solomon Islands

Tokelau

Tonga

Tuvalu

Vanuatu

282,899

23,999,857

1,278,040

106,503

73,221

33,282

975,171

3,804,166

23,298

1,048,392

462,624

1,194,834

33,282,287

General Grant Special Grant 2009 Total 2008 Total

361,112

38,364,492

1,436,131

166,411

103,175

93,190

1,694,068

3,885,708

23,298

1,149,903

522,532

2,123,410

49,923,430

$ $ $ $

78,213

14,364,635

158,091

59,908

29,954

59.908

718,897

81,542

-

101,511

59,908

928,576

16,641,143

361,112

38,619,103

1,597,550

216,335

173,068

108,167

1,770,618

3,359,846

51,586

1,189,842

454,304

2,021,899

49,923,430

2  Student Tuition Fees

Regional Students 

International Students

Distance & Flexible Learning

College of Foundation Studies

Republic of Marshall Islands (RMI)

Master of Business Administration

Others

2009 2008

$ $

10,847,563 

493,575 

11,341,138

 6,470,541 

17,811,679 

2,746,272

1,132,700

1,937,803 

3,710,890

27,339,344

11,041,487

461,700

11,503,187

6,886,001

18,389,188

3,151,743

21,613

1,712,504

2,247,731

25,522,779
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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3  Aid & Donations

Australian Aid

New Zealand Aid

European Union Aid

IAS & Other Institute Projects

United Nations

Others

2009 2008

$ $

10,207,297 

6,377,848 

1,457,358 

2,260,579 

1,185,536 

1,355,672 

22,844,291

8,329,651

4,235,791

7,116,482

2,858,016

212,202

2,093,750

24,845,892

4  Trading Units

Book Centre

Catering Services:

Laucala

Alafua

Residential Services:

Laucala

Emalus

Alafua

Gym & Community Recreation Centre 

ICT Park

Others

1,077,743

-

2,541,054 

714,630

235,315

2009 2009 2008 2008

877,280

6,253

2,465,479

551,372

223,426

$ $ $ $

8,087,226

1,077,743 

3,490,999

270,486

251,110

196,215

13,373,779

8,569,603

883,533

3,240,277

244,842

281,897

110,155

13,330,307

4a  Consultancy Income

Professional Services Provided & Project Consultancies 

Training & Teaching 

Consultancy work with Tonga Police 

Review of Dept of Co-operative 

Dairy Farms Fiji - Blue Prawns Project 

Others

2009 2008

$ $

1,224,845 

385,059

83,728

46,000

96,082 

34,876

1,870,590

1,069,070

277,324

-

-

144,905

15,286

1,506,585
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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5  Other Income

Miscellaneous Student Activities

Course Material & Text Book Sales

Faculty & Support Units Income 

Laboratory Income 

Rental Income

ITS Domain Name Registration

Administration Cost Recovery

Publication Sales

Other Income

2009 2008

$ $

1,000,397 

3,362,941 

91,235

719,648 

322,041 

152,709

430,065 

234,272 

960,122 

7,273,430

1,242,948

2,262,849

-

552,588

202,057

172,470

247,348

231,586

1,728,859

6,640,705

6  Release of Deferred Revenue

Depreciation Charge for the Year 

     Less: Charge on items acquired

        through loans or finance leases 

        through normal operating activities 

Release of Deferred Revenue - Depreciation 

Fixed Asset Additions for the Year 

     Less: Items acquired through loans

        or finance leases

        or normal operating activities 

Increase in Deferred Revenue - Additions

Adjustments

Reversal of prior year additions

Net Transfer

5,101,458 

(372,434) 

(606,554) 

 (4,293,176) 

-

3,693,879

2009 2009 2008 2008

13,877,455

(372,434) 

(333,631)

(2,361,384)

 -

1,511,873

$ $ $ $

4,122,470 

(599,297)

110,211

3,633,384

13,171,390

(849,511)

-

12,321,879
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Notes to the Financial Statements

7  Staff Costs

Academic & Comparable staff

 Intermediate & Junior staff 

Permanent Hourly Paid staff

Accrual for Leave Entitlements 

Total Staff Costs

2009 2008

$ $

38,870,692 

10,751,480 

6,321,773 

(407,250) 

55,536,695

42,438,660

10,949,065

6,806,546

129,000

60,323,271

Staff Numbers (Headcounts) by category as at 31 December:

Academic & Comparable staff 

Intermediate & Junior staff 

Permanent Hourly Paid staff 

Total Staff Numbers

508

 508 

368 

1,384

548

560

482

1,590

Annualized Taxable Emoluments for higher paid staff

$100,000 - $119,999

$120,000 - $139,999

$140,000 - $159,999

$160,000 - $179,999

$180,000 - $199,999

$200,000 - $219,999

$220,000 - $239,999

$240,000 - $259,999 

$260,000 - $279,999

$280,000 - $299,999 

>$300,000

2009 2008

Number Number

27

7

9

2

2

1

-

1

-

-

-

49

26

18

5

5

1

1

-

-

-

-

-

56
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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8  Operating Costs

Major Items of Expenditure

     Cost of Sales

     Travel-Related Expenses

     Student-Related Expenses 

     Grounds & Maintenance

     Consultancy Expenses

        GMES Project 

        Other 

     Utilities 

     Telecommunications 

     PRIDE In-Country Expenses

     Library Books

     Staff Recruitment & Passages 

     Printing & Stationery

     Insurance Premiums 

     Computer Software & Hardware

     Workshop Expenses 

     Teaching Materials 

        Sub-Total

     Other Items of Expenditure 

Fees paid to auditors:

     External audit

     Internal audit

     Other services

     Projects 

Honorarium:

     Council 

     Finance & Investments Committee 

     Audit Committees

Total Operating Costs

2009 2008

$ $

8,972,509 

3,856,307 

3,924,172 

2,527,981 

636,570

1,712,066

2,736,312 

2,489,794

1,707,183

2,100,239

1,296,836

2,167,617

1,278,677

1,273,224

1,344,314

1,406,955

39,430,756 

12,022,190 

39,229

223,806

16,542

37,000

 21,000

6,000

12,000 

51,808,523

8,836,507

2,942,429

3,689,955

2,424,901

82,459

2,444,619

3,102,257

2,451,806

4,227,494

1,696,809

1,816,373

1,964,182

1,312,040

1,193,858

1,261,436

1,333,590

40,780,715

11,491,815

39,002

141,256

12,246

45,459

21,000

6,000

12,000

52,549,493
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Notes to the Financial Statements

9  Inventories

Balance b/f at 1 January 2008

Additions

Expensed

Write down in value

Cost or Valuation at 31 December 2008 

Balance b/f at 1 January 2009

Additions

Expensed

Write down in value 

Cost or Valuation at 31 December 2009

506,300 

64,439

(78,303)

( 2,000)

490,436

490,436

(15,191)

(8,598)

 47,116

513,763

Academic
Gowns

Maintenance Catering & 
Domestic

Total

69,889

558,078

(610,690) 

-

17,277

17,277

470,387

(461,478) 

 -

26,186

$ $ $ $

196,498

165,614

(202,331)

- 

159,781

159,781

(213,840)

163,129

41,936 

151,006

5,246,172

8,547,104

(8,755,439)

(234,424)

4,803,413

4,803,413

6,263,830

(6,176,972)

(141,468)

4,748,803

4,473,485

7,758,973 

(7,864,115)

(234,424)

4,135,919

 4,135,919 

6,022,474 

(5,870,025) 

(230,520)

4,057,848

Goods & 
Publications

$

Analysis of Value of Inventories

Total cost of Inventories

Less: Unrealised profit

Less: Provision for Obsolescence

Cost or Valuation at 31 December

2009 2008

$ $

6,328,875 

(871,517) 

(708,555)

4,748,803

6,242,016

(1,104,400)

(334,203)

4,803,413

Analysis of Goods & Publications:

Book Centre - Inventory

Book Centre - Goods in Transit

Regional Campuses - Books 

Regional Campuses - Course Materials 

Institute of Pacific Studies 

Institute of Education

Less: Provision for Obsolescence 

Cost or Valuation at 31 December

2009 2008

$ $

1,759,151

992,723

300,701

991,912

617,477

84,491

4,746,455 

(688,607)

4,057,848

1,757,725

517,221

810,405

460,271

707,433

108,067

4,361,122

(225,203)

4,135,919

THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC ANNUAL REPORT 2009
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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10  Accounts Receivable

Government Contributions

Trade

Students

Staff 

Other

Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts

2009 2008

$ $

1,975,240 

1,423,626

2,454,364

118,453

3,708,381

9,680,064

(2,084,203) 

7,595,861

1,299,690

797,620

3,006,501

99,290

2,015,724

7,218,825

(2,401,839)

4,816,986

Notes

10a

10b

10c

10d

10e

10f

10a  Contributions due from Governments:

Cook Islands

Fiji

Marshall Islands

Nauru

Niue 

Solomon Islands 

Tonga

2009 2008

$ $

-

130,451 

279,521

398,552

189,353

907,067

70,296

1,975,240

35,320 

34,948

215,536

345,700

197,970

470,216

-

1,299,690

Ageing of Government Contributions due:

‘0 to 90 days

‘91 to 180 days

‘181 to 365 days

Between 1 & 2 Years Old

Between 2 & 3 Years Old

More than 3 Years Old

$ $

1,154,092

90,693

 107,213 

365,730

154,095 

103,417

1,975,240

672,341

131,856

128,232

197,374

123,952

45,935

1,299,690

Notes:
Any overpayments by member countries are classified as creditors
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10b  Trade Debtors

Laucala Campus & Book Centre

Emalus Campus & Book Centre 

Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts

2009 2008

$ $

1,165,833

257,793 

1,423,626 

(99,154) 

1,324,472

651,949

145,671

797,620

(148,606)

649,014

Ageing of Trade Debtors due:

‘0 to 90 days

‘91 to 180 days

‘181 to 365 days

Between 1 & 2 Years Old

Between 2 & 3 Years Old

More than 3 Years Old

$ $

1,041,860

169,798

124,462

79,483 

6,755

1,268

1,423,626

563,318

41,897

 20,384

172,021

 -

 -

797,620

10c  Student Debtors

Laucala 

Alafua

Emalus 

Other Regional Campuses

Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts

2009 2008

$ $

1,127,540

32,748 

49,476 

1,244,600

2,454,364

(1,885,689) 

568,675

781,624

125,457

871,363

1,228,057

3,006,501

(2,154,805)

851,696

Ageing of Student Debtors due:

‘0 to 90 days

‘91 to 180 days

‘181 to 365 days

Between 1 & 2 Years Old

Between 2 & 3 Years Old

More than 3 Years Old

$ $

272,139

509,863

349,140

237,800

386,012

699,410

2,454,364

58,240

719,730

227,982

1,381,808

262,642

356,099

3,006,501
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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10d  Staff Debtors

Laucala 

Alafua

Emalus 

Less: Provision for Doubtful Debts

2009 2008

$ $

114,585

3,868

-

118,453

(99,360) 

19,093

98,769

3

518

99,290

(98,428)

862

Ageing of Staff Debtors due:

‘0 to 90 days

‘91 to 180 days

‘181 to 365 days

Between 1 & 2 Years Old

Between 2 & 3 Years Old

More than 3 Years Old

$ $

- 

-

 -

19,920

188

 98,345

118,453

-

-

946

- 

98,344

-

99,290

10e  Other Debtors

Aid Agencies 

VAT Receivable

Interest Receivable

Other Debtors

2009 2008

$ $

3,424 

1,787,219

581,160

1,336,578

3,708,381

129,466

1,421,774

196,873

267,611

2,015,724

Ageing of Others Debtors due:

‘0 to 90 days

‘91 to 180 days

‘181 to 365 days

Between 1 & 2 Years Old

Between 2 & 3 Years Old

More than 3 Years Old

$ $

539,807 

703,711

790,134 

540,495

398,685

735,549

3,708,381

216,017

134,576

427,170

463,131

417,150

357,680

2,015,724
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10f  Movement in Provision for Doubtful Debts

Balance at 1 January

Debts written off in the year

Additional provision made in the year

2009 2008

$ $

1,989,418

 - 

94,785

2,084,203

1,436,393

(61,219)

1,026,665

2,401,839

11 Prepayments

Prepayments - Laucala

Prepayments - Alafua

Prepayments - Emalus 

Prepayments - Book Centre

2009 2008

$ $

357,359

6,089 

49,248 

39,266

451,962

531,163

6,089

48,325

101,538

687,115
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Notes to the Financial Statements

12 Cash & Cash Equivalents

Term Deposits

Current Accounts

Cash on hand & petty cash 

Bank Overdraft

Where held:

In Fiji

     Term Deposits 

     Current Accounts (net of bank overdrafts) 

     Cash on hand & petty cash

With Other Regional Banks

     Term Deposits

     Current Accounts (net of bank overdrafts)

In Other Overseas Accounts

     Term Deposits

     Current Accounts (net of bank overdrafts)

2009 2008

$ $

35,962,696 

8,787,295 

23,387

44,773,378 

(103,000)

44,670,378

34,414,860

6,975,297

23,387

41,413,544

1,532,431

863,619

2,396,050

15,404

845,379

860,783

19,960,513 

8,384,382

20,091

28,364,986

(69,436)

28,295,550

12,564,247

1,311,297

20,091

13,895,635

1,066,643

2,736,813

3,803,456

6,329,623

4,266,836

10,596,459

THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC ANNUAL REPORT 2009

Comprising:

     University Funds

     Project Funds 

     Endowment Funds

28,211,711

6,921,776 

9,536,891 

44,670,378

14,886,450 

6,229,830 

7,179,270 

28,295,550
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13  Reconciliation of Net Cash from Operating Activities   
    to Statement of  Income & Expenditure

2009 2008

Surplus - Statement of Income & Expenditure

Adjustments to Income & Expenditure:

     Release of Deferred Revenue

     Depreciation

     Provision for Doubtful Debts

     Write down in Value of Inventories

     Provision for Employee Entitlement

         I&E Cash Surplus

     (Increase)/Decrease in Inventories

     (Increase)/Decrease in Accounts Receivable

     Decrease/(Increase) in Prepayments 

     Increase/(Decrease) in Creditors 

Net Cash provided from Operating Activities

$ $

16,684,530

(3,633,384) 

5,101,458

(317,636)

141,469

(407,250)

17,569,187

(86,859)

(2,461,239) 

235,153

3,291,108 

18,547,350

5,424,970

(12,321,879)

13,877,455

965,445

234,424

129,000

8,309,415

208,337

7,185,502

(436,827)

(2,129,649)

13,136,778
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14  Property, Plant & Equipment

Description

Cost or Valuation

Deemed Gross Cost at 1 January 2009

     Additions

     Disposals

     Transfers 

Deemed Gross Cost at 31 December 2009

8,517,473

1 ,951,424

(433,264)

- 

10,035,633

Equipment
 & Furniture

Vehicles 
& Vessels

Work In
Progress

Total

809,184

1,579,088

-

(308,018)

2,080,254

$ $ $ $

1,649,035

389,940

(448,085)

-

1,590,890

150,140,014

4,293,176

(881,349)

-

153,551,841

139,164,322

372,724

-

 308,018 

139,845,064

Property

$

Accumulated Depreciation

Accumulated Depreciation at 1 January 2009

     Charge for the year

     Adjustment on disposals

Accumulated Depreciation at 31 
December 2009

Net Carrying Amount at 31 
December 2009

Net Carrying Amount at 31 
December 2008

4 ,957,854

1 ,631,427

(353,722)

6,235,559

3,800,073

3,559,619

-

-

-

-

2,080,254

809,184

884,419

385,364

(367,954)

901,829

689,061

764,616

22,368,348

5,101,458

(721,676)

26,748,130

126,803,711 

127,771,666

16,526,075

3,084,667

-

19,610,742

120,234,322

122,638,247

Notes to the Financial Statements

Assets under finance lease
The carrying amount of tangible fixed assets include an amount of $106,350 (2008: $366,564) in respect of assets held under finance lease 
reported under the equipment category relating to PABX equipment. The depreciation charge for the year was $260,215 (2008: $260,215).

Work in Progress
Work in Progress relates to costs for property-related projects where the project has not been completed. The costs will be capitalised once all 
major items of expenditure, other than the payment of retention monies, have been incurred.

Carrying Value of Work in Progress Projects at 31 December 2009

Continuing from 2008

     ICT Building Project

New Projects

     Austra Learn Accommodation

     Tree Tops/Baristas/USPSA Renovation

     Medical Centre Renovations 

     Student Carpark 

     FBE Roof Replacement

     Regional Campuses - MYOB Implementation

2009 2008

$ $

934,936

84,931

285,622 

5,897 

 248,037

412,302

108,529

2,080,254

809,184

-

-

-

-

-

-

809,184
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14  Property, Plant & Equipment  (Continued)

Reconciliation of fixed assets to related accounts

Carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at 31 December 2009

This is represented by:

     Deferred Revenue

     Carrying amount of equipment acquired via finance leases: PABX telephone system

     Carrying amount of properties acquired directly or through loans:   Statham Street Campus

                 Services Complex

                 Residential Block

Carrying amount of assets acquired in 2007 funded from normal operating activities

Carrying amount of assets acquired in 2008 funded from normal operating activities 

Carrying amount of assets acquired in 2009 funded from normal operating activities

$

126,803,711

115,094,458

106,350

4,109,409

115,200

808,000

1,062,483

2,184,345

3,323,466

126,803,711

15  Financing Facilities

The University has access to overdraft facilities of $4,075,007 (2008: $4,068,785) with various banks across the region 
for which all conditions precedent have been met. As at 31 December 2009, $103,000 (2008: $69,436) was utilised.

Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The fair value of cash and 
cash equivalents as at 31 December 2009 is $44,773,378 (2008: $28,364,986) which includes endowment assets of 
$9,536,891 (2008: $7,179,270).

16  Creditors & Accruals

Trade Creditors 

Student Creditors

Member Countries Contributions Received in Advance

Student Fees Received in Advance

Payroll Creditors

Accrual for Leave entitlement 

Obligations under Finance Leases

Other Creditors & Accruals

2009 2008

$ $

9,924,043 

78,098 

1,788,585 

173,353

1,557,105

2,775,384 

99,681

643,657 

17,039,906

6,657,846

75,683

3,545,546

141,177

318,888

3,182,634

292,504

134,591

14,348,869
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17  Commitments

(a) Finance lease commitments

The commitment in respect of leased assets are as follows:

     Not later than one year

     Later than one year and not later than two years

     Later than two years and not later than five years 

     Minimum lease payments 

     Deduct future finance charges

     Lease liability

Analysed as:

     Current liability 

     Non-current liability 

2009 2008

$ $

101,906

-

-

101,906

(2,225)

99,681

99,681

-

99,681

323,755

101,906

-

425,661

(33,475)

392,186

292,505

99,681

392,186

Notes to the Financial Statements

(b) Operating lease commitments

The commitment in respect of leased assets are as follows:

     Expiring within one year

     Expiring within more than one year but less than two years

     Expiring within more than two years but less than five years

683,255

683,255

877,169

2 ,243,679

750,080

750,080

1,710,780

3,210,940

The University has an operating lease with Fuji Xerox Fiji for the provision of managed multi function device services. 
Minimum monthly lease of $54,371 for five years subject to adjustments based upon actual utilization.
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18  Contingent Asset & Liabilities

As at 31 December, the University’s contingent liabilities are estimated to be:

     Fiji Electricity Authority - guarantees given

     EDF Programme Management Unit - guarantees given

     FIRCA - customs bond 

     Ministry of Primary Industries, Land & Water

     VAT on grants received from Government 

Contingent Assets

2009 2008

$ $

158,857 

223,744

331,645

8,963 

39,802,087

40,525,296

39,802,087

158,857 

223,744

-

-

39,802,087

40,184,688

39,802,087

Notes to the Financial Statements

The Fiji Islands Revenue Customs Authority advised in a letter dated June 2007 that the University might be liable 
to pay VAT on contributions received from the Government of Fiji since 1992. The University has made an effort in 
2009 to close the matter with FIRCA, but no reply nor any formal assessment has been issued by FIRCA since the 
University’s last communication dated 20 October 2009. Accordingly, no provision for liability has been made in the 
financial statements.

The University claims Government grants on a VAT exclusive basis. In the event that the tax liability is considered 
probable, the University would make a claim for the short fall in payment of grant and recognise a receivable amount to 
the same value as the potential tax liability.

There are various legal claims and trade disputes pending against the University at the reporting date. The University 
considers these claims, arising in the normal course of business, to be immaterial and mostly spurious. No amounts have 
been provided in relation to any of these matters.

19  Insurance

The University has taken cover for combined material damage and business interruption at a replacement value of 
$317,717,612.
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